

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Strategies Healthcare Leaders Use to Improve Patient Satisfaction

Kajon Franklin Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Health and Medical Administration Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Kajon Franklin

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Ify Diala-Nettles, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration
Faculty

Dr. Yvette Ghormley, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Denise Land, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

Strategies Healthcare Leaders Use to Improve Patient Satisfaction

by

Kajon Franklin

MBA, Cleary University, 2012

BBA, Cleary University, 2010

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

October 2021

Abstract

For all healthcare leaders, patient satisfaction plays a key role in healthcare; poor patient satisfaction within healthcare organizations can lead to poor patient health outcomes, decreased revenue, and poor employee engagement. Grounded in Mayeroff's theory of caring, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies healthcare leaders use to improve patient satisfaction. The participants consisted of five healthcare leaders in metropolitan Detroit, Michigan, who implemented strategies that improved patient satisfaction. Data was collected using semistructured interviews, archival document review, and data from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) Hospital Compare database. Yin's five-step process was used to analyze data. Four themes emerged: caring for patients through communication, patient-centered care, compliance through CMS patient satisfaction processes, and leadership. A key recommendation for healthcare leaders is to create an environment built on communication amongst staff, patients, and their family members, ensuring that everyone involved in the patients' care understands the expectations of the patients' outcome. Implications for positive social change include potentially improving patient care experiences through communication and education by healthcare leaders and healthcare workers, resulting in improved health outcomes within the local communities in metropolitan Detroit, Michigan.

Strategies Healthcare Leaders Use to Improve Patient Satisfaction

by

Kajon Franklin

MBA, Cleary University, 2012 BBA, Cleary University, 2010

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

October 2021

Dedication

Through this study, I have had the opportunity to grow and learn so much about myself and my capabilities. This study challenged me to the fullest and allowed me to see how strong my faith was when tested. I could have given in so many times, but I refused to give in because this degree was for me. By the grace of my God, I carried out this goal, and I cannot be more delighted and grateful. Obtaining this degree was put on my heart several years ago to obtain, and I did it. Thank you, Jesus!

Acknowledgments

I dedicate this study to my loving and supportive mother and father; it was with your strength and guidance that I could accomplish this goal. You taught me the importance of a strong work ethic and keeping my word, and I could not thank you more, as this journey brought many highs, lows, and everything in between. Thank you for allowing me to dream and become anything that I wanted to be. Thank you for being you and loving me more than enough.

I dedicate this study to my friends and staff who supported me when this thing got the best and worst of me. Your support was what I needed to stay focused and keep pushing. Your faith in me and God's blessings was the charge that reminded me consistently of who I am and whose I am. Thank you all with my whole heart.

With your insight and monthly check-in calls, Dr. Hay, you helped push me through to the finish line. Speaking with you kept me accountable to the goals that I set for myself. I am thankful for your support and your guidance. I appreciate you.

Dr. Diala, thank you for your patience with me and your support. Thank you so much for believing in me and pushing me through this program. I am grateful for your leadership as with you, I have completed this journey. You have been a blessing to me, and I thank you so very much.

Thank you to my classmates who have completed the program before me and who will complete the program after me. Your post and support helped tremendously. Thank you to my 2nd committee chairs and URRs; I appreciate your feedback. Dr. Land, thank you for your patience and support.

Table of Contents

Lis	st of Tables	iv
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem Statement	2
	Purpose Statement	3
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	4
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	6
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
	Assumptions	7
	Limitations	8
	Delimitations	8
	Significance of the Study	9
	Contribution to Business Practice	. 10
	Implications for Social Change	. 10
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
	Theory of Caring	. 12
	Sustain a Culture of Patient-Centered Care	. 21
	Understanding Patients' Needs	26

Compliance	32
Dedicated Leadership Skills	39
Transition	47
Section 2: The Project	49
Purpose Statement	49
Role of the Researcher	49
Participants	52
Research Method and Design	53
Research Method	53
Research Design	54
Population and Sampling	55
Ethical Research	57
Data Collection Instruments	58
Data Collection Technique	59
Semistructured Interviews	59
Archival Documentation Review	62
CMS Hospital Compare Website	62
Data Organization Technique	64
Data Analysis	65
Yin's Five-Step Data Analysis	66
Reliability and Validity	69
Reliability	69

Validity	70
Transition and Summary	71
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	73
Introduction	73
Presentation of the Findings	73
Theme 1: Caring for Patients Through Communication	74
Theme 2: Patient-Centered Care	77
Theme 3: Compliance through CMS Patient Satisfaction Processes	80
Theme 4: Leadership	83
Applications to Professional Practice	87
Implications for Social Change	89
Recommendations for Action	90
Recommendations for Further Research	92
Reflections	93
Conclusion	94
References	97
Appendix: Interview Protocol	127

List of Tables

Fable 1. Literature Review Source Content.	11
Table 1. Literature Review Source Content	1 1

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Patient satisfaction is a critical element in the delivery of healthcare. As technology advances in healthcare, patients have become more knowledgeable about individualized care and the role of patient satisfaction. Healthcare leaders are accountable for patients' experiences and satisfaction with the care received based on a patient's perception when patients complete a patient satisfaction survey, the Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (CAHPS), implemented by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). In this qualitative single case study, I explored strategies healthcare leaders use to improve patient satisfaction in a healthcare organization.

Background of the Problem

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA) of 2010 includes strong recommendations for healthcare leaders to improve patients' perceptions of healthcare. The PPACA initiated the requirement for healthcare leaders to restructure or create provisions that include improving patient satisfaction and quality of care (Pascual, 2021). Hospital reimbursement is affected by patients' perceptions of care and services received (Pascual, 2021). It includes accountability measures to aid healthcare leaders in maintaining fiscal viability (Pascual, 2021). In healthcare, lack of accountability corresponds with poor customer service experiences (D. L. Leonard, 2017). As patient satisfaction plays a significant role in healthcare, healthcare leaders are increasingly accountable for ensuring patients are satisfied with the care received.

Many healthcare leaders have established patient satisfaction organizational goals to ensure higher levels of care and service. Healthcare leaders who have not implemented strategies to improve patients' perceptions of care and service are at risk of market share loss resulting in healthcare consolidation (DeVore & Champion, 2011; Vizzuso, 2015). Nationally, many healthcare leaders have improved patient satisfaction; however, some still lack strategies to make necessary adjustments (Mann et al., 2016). Patient satisfaction is a vital component of the financial longevity of healthcare organizations, requiring healthcare leaders to establish strategies to improve patient satisfaction. Greater satisfaction, in turn, could increase inpatient referrals and insurance reimbursements.

Problem Statement

Healthcare leaders who fail to deliver quality patient experiences are under pressure to improve patient satisfaction, placing them at financial risk (Mahoney et al., 2017). In July 2017, 14% of U.S. healthcare leaders publicly reported patient satisfaction scores through 3.1 million completed CAHPS surveys, while 86% of healthcare leaders did not (CMS, n.d.). A decrease in patient satisfaction could negatively affect hospital profitability by 25% (CMS, n.d.). In addition, the PPACA includes a core measure for the reimbursement for services provided by healthcare providers based on patient satisfaction (Pascual, 2021). The general business problem is poor patient satisfaction within healthcare organizations puts hospitals in the U.S. at financial risk. The specific business problem is some healthcare leaders lack strategies to improve patient satisfaction.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of the proposed qualitative single case study was to explore strategies healthcare leaders used to improve patient satisfaction. The targeted population included leaders of a healthcare organization located in metropolitan Detroit, Michigan who successfully implemented strategies that improved patient satisfaction. Findings may influence the ways healthcare leaders address patient satisfaction and how patients perceive service quality, resulting in improved service outcomes for patients and their families.

Nature of the Study

I selected a qualitative approach for the study. Researchers use qualitative methods to study characteristics of a population through focus groups and interviews that produce data reflecting personal experiences, perspectives, and cultural backgrounds (Anyan, 2013). The qualitative method was appropriate for this study as I explored participants' perceptions. By contrast, researchers use quantitative methods to evaluate studies using hypotheses, nonpurposeful sampling, measures, and randomization standards in changing contexts of real-world settings (Balasubramanian et al., 2015). The quantitative approach was not appropriate for this study because I did not examine relationships or differences among variables in real-world settings. Another option was the mixed methods approach, which researchers use to integrate qualitative and quantitative research (Pluye & Hong, 2014). Mixed methods research was not appropriate for this study because there were no quantitative components to the study.

Several qualitative designs are available to researchers, including case studies, ethnography, and phenomenology. For this study, I used the case study design.

Researchers use the case study design for an empirical exploration of a phenomenon within a real-world context bounded by a unit of analysis, generally time (Yin, 2018). The case study design is appropriate for exploring the depth of a single phenomenon specified over time. The ethnographic design, which researchers use to describe a culture or act to understand another way of life (Spradley, 2016), was not appropriate for this study because my intent was not to describe groups' cultures or understand a way of life. Researchers use the phenomenological design to describe, interpret, or embrace the essence of lived experiences of a group of people involving a specific phenomenon (Valentine et al., 2018). Exploring a specific phenomenon of a group of people was not the goal of my study; the phenomenological design was therefore not appropriate.

Research Question

One central question guided this research: What strategies do healthcare leaders use to improve patient satisfaction in healthcare?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies did you use to improve patient satisfaction?
- 2. What strategy did you find worked best to improve patient satisfaction?
- 3. How did you measure the success of the strategies used?
- 4. What were the key barriers to implementing the strategies for improving patient satisfaction?

- 5. How did your organization address the critical barriers to improving patient satisfaction?
- 6. How did patients respond to your strategies to improve patient satisfaction?
- 7. What else would you like to share that you did not address regarding the strategies used to improve patient satisfaction?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study is Mayeroff's theory of caring. The theory of caring involves the process of relating to someone, understanding their needs, and committing to their well-being (Houghton et al., 2014; Mayeroff, 1971). Mayeroff's (1971) theory of caring is the process of helping another grow and satisfy another person's needs to actualize oneself through transformational qualitative relationships. The act of caring includes observing and assessing responses to needs and concerns of another person as well as expressions of compassion, empathy, and respect (Smylie et al., 2016). Caring is a crucial function in multiple institutions that affects the lives of those in need, as well as human services enterprises such as healthcare (Smylie et al., 2016). Caring for individuals is the primary function of healthcare and a significant aspect of ensuring the wellbeing of patients through listening, responding, and empathizing with each patient.

The theory of caring has evolved. The tenets of this theory include knowing a person's needs, limitations, patience, honesty, humility, hope, and courage (McAfee, 2016). The theory of caring has become a core training method for nurses since 1991. Such training accelerates and expands to clinical and nonclinical roles within healthcare organizations (Watson & Smith, 2002). Researchers use the theory of caring to focus on

relationships and behaviors, demonstrating consideration for the needs of others (McAfee, 2016). Individualized care for patients involves the provision of care based on addressing each patient's unique needs and problems (Cheraghi et al., 2017). Continued training and education focusing on the theory of caring and how to provide care to patients individually can effectively strengthen the overall perceptions of the healthcare organizations from patients' perspective.

Tenets of the theory of caring can facilitate healthcare leaders' understanding of patients' needs to develop and deploy strategies. Mayeroff's theory of caring requires a commitment to wellbeing of others by supporting and encouraging specific behaviors (Houghton et al., 2014). This was a suitable foundation for understanding strategies used to improve patient satisfaction in healthcare.

Operational Definitions

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS): Is a U.S. government division of the Department of Health and Human Services that administers Medicare and Medicaid health insurance coverage for seniors, individuals with disabilities, children, low-income adults, and pregnant women (CMS, n.d.).

Clinician and Group Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (CGCAHPS): This is a standardized healthcare survey tool used to measure patients' perceptions of care provided by physicians in office settings (CMS, n.d.).

Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (HCAHPS): This was the first national standardized healthcare survey tool used to measure a patient's perception of hospital care (CMS, n.d.). Meaningful Use: Meaningful use requires

healthcare leaders to develop an electronic patient portal for improving patients' healthcare (CMS, n.d.).

Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 (PPACA): An act enacted by the U.S. 111th Congress and signed into law by President Barak Obama on March 23, 2010, expanding healthcare coverage for all Americans and reducing the number of uninsured American's and healthcare costs (Healthcare.gov, n.d.).

Value-based healthcare: The healthcare payment and delivery model which rewards value over quantity based on patients' perceptions of care (CMS, n.d.).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Three assumptions guided this study. Assumptions are the researcher's unproven assertions necessary to conduct the investigation (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The first assumption was that healthcare leaders responded to interview questions truthfully by sharing their expertise and specific details about strategies used to improve patient satisfaction. Second, I assumed that expanding healthcare leaders' knowledge of improving patient satisfaction would lead to action that will improve patients' perceptions of care, thereby improving CGCAHPS and HCAHPS results and financial stability of the healthcare organization. The third assumption was that strategies provided by participants contributed to overall patient satisfaction ratings of the healthcare organization as reported through the CGCAHPS and HCAHPS results.

Limitations

Limitations are constraints or weaknesses beyond the researcher's control and may affect the outcome of the study (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2019). Limitations of the study included potential biases of healthcare leaders during interviews and limited documentation for data collection. During interviews, participants had the ability to limit the amount of information shared or withdraw from the study. The study was focused on a single healthcare organization. Therefore, strategies may not help all healthcare leaders. The focus of the study was specific to strategies used to improve patient satisfaction. With a qualitative single case methodological design, other researchers can duplicate and test study results in different demographic and geographic locations where healthcare leaders improved patient satisfaction.

Delimitations

Delimitations are boundaries or challenges of the researcher's shortcomings in the assumptions of a study forcing the researcher to better evaluate the assumptions (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2019). The first delimitation of the study was that the sample population was limited to healthcare leaders who implemented and improved patient satisfaction processes for a healthcare organization. The second delimitation of the study was the sample population of healthcare leaders were delimited to one health system located in metropolitan Detroit, Michigan. The third delimitation of the study was my choice to interview healthcare leaders who implemented and improved patient satisfaction within the healthcare organization; therefore, I did not interview healthcare

leaders who did not implement and improve patient satisfaction within the healthcare organization.

Significance of the Study

The findings of this study offer potential value to healthcare leaders because improving patient satisfaction has a strong influence on patients' behavior and wellbeing. Patients' perceptions of the care and service provided within a healthcare organization determines the patients' satisfaction with the clinician and the healthcare employees (D. L. Leonard, 2017). High patient satisfaction scores as resulted through the CGCAHPS and HCAHPS, are associated with increased reimbursement rates from insurers (Shirley & Sanders, 2013); in turn, financial performance is a critical success indicator for healthcare organization leaders (Akingbola & van den Berg, 2015). According to Anderson and Wilson (2011), the results of the CGCAHPS and HCAHPS allow insurers to provide up to 30% in reimbursements or deductions for services rendered based on patients' experience, and up to 70% reimbursement or deduction based on clinical care patients receive within healthcare organizations. In addition to reimbursement rates tied to patient satisfaction, the PPACA includes a core measure for the evaluation and pay of healthcare providers based on patients' perceptions of quality of care and services received (Tsai et al., 2015). Healthcare leaders who create processes focused on patient improvements and perceptions may have higher reimbursement rates, compared to the previous year, based on patients' feelings regarding the care received within the healthcare organization.

Contribution to Business Practice

This study may contribute to healthcare leaders' improvement of business practices. Healthcare leaders seek alternative methods to ensure patients are satisfied with services received by healthcare employees. Patient satisfaction may aid leaders in creating effective ways to empower and create innovative process improvements in healthcare organizations. Further, improved patient satisfaction may aid in terms of organizational sustainability and improved patient health outcomes.

Implications for Social Change

Improving patient satisfaction in healthcare can directly affect positive social change by contributing to overall patient wellbeing. U.S. Government leaders set forth quality standards outlined in the PPACA that include strategies needed to achieve positive patient experiences. Healthcare leaders who implement effective communication practices within healthcare organizations can improve patients' health, safety, and overall satisfaction (Burgener, 2020). Study results may contribute to positive social change. Revisions to patient satisfaction through patient-centered and respectful and responsive care is necessary to achieve universal healthcare for all (Larson et al., 2019). Improving quality of care from patients' perspectives may promote improved health outcomes and wellbeing for patients regardless of age, demographics, race, or ethnicity.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

This literature review includes strategies used by healthcare leaders to improve patient satisfaction. I present the theory, research problem, and studies on the topic. The literature review addresses five strategies to improve patient satisfaction in healthcare: (a)

applying the theory of caring, (b) sustaining a culture of patient-centered care, (c) understanding patient needs, (d) ensuring compliance, and (e) employing dedicated leadership skills.

Sources reviewed included journals, government sources, and websites that provided detailed information to address the research problem as well as findings from scholars who have studied similar concerns. I used the following databases: Google Scholar, National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI), Science Direct, PubMed, and EBSCOHost, to retrieve peer-reviewed articles published between 2017 and 2021. Keywords searched were patient satisfaction in healthcare, HCAHPS, PPACA, CMS, CGCAHPS, theory of caring, hospital compare, press ganey, patient satisfaction, CMS star rating, customer service in healthcare, value-based care, organizational leadership, transformational leadership, and culture of caring. I reviewed prior scholarship on patient satisfaction strategies and improving patients' perception of care. The literature review consisted of 92 sources, 74 of which came from peer-reviewed journals, with 85% published between 2017 and 2021 (see Table 1).

Table 1

Literature Review Source Content

Reference Type	Total	<5 Years (2017 to 2021)	>5 Years (Prior to 2017)	%Total <5 Year
Peer-reviewed journals	82	74	8	85%
Books	1	0	1	0%
Websites	2	2	0	100%
Non-peer reviewed journals	7	1	6	1%
Total	92	80	15	87%

The purpose of the proposed qualitative single case study was to explore strategies healthcare leaders used to improve patient satisfaction. I first discussed the conceptual framework, which was the theory of caring. Next, I explained sustaining a culture of patient-centered care, understanding patients' needs, ensuring compliance, and employing dedicated leadership skills. The strategies identified are among several that healthcare leaders may consider implementing based on the needs of patient populations. The review concludes with a consideration of healthcare leaders and improving patient satisfaction.

Theory of Caring

The conceptual framework for this study is Mayeroff's theory of caring.

According to Mayeroff (1971), caring is the process of relating to someone to understand the person's needs while being fully committed to his or her wellbeing. Mayeroff's theory of caring is a foundation for understanding strategies to improve patient satisfaction. Caring requires a commitment to the wellbeing of others through hope and courage (Bagnall et al., 2018). Leaders who implement a culture of caring create healthcare providers with caring attributes and behaviors (Wei et al., 2019). Establishing a healthcare environment with a primary focus on caring for each patient leads to a culture of caring.

Healthcare providers who deliver care and support to their patients can create a culture of caring by listening to patients' needs and treating them with dignity and respect. Caring is a natural phenomenon (Arman et al., 2015). The theory of caring framework involves the context of caring for life with a commitment and devotion for

wellbeing (Létourneau et al., 2017). In healthcare, the theory of caring is fundamental in terms of providing patients with the care they deserve and aiding each patient with healing and improved outcomes.

Healthcare leaders who encourage the theory of caring build a thoughtful environment focused on improving patient care and wellbeing by applying personalized treatment and creating a shared approach to patient care. This approach allows patients to take part in their healthcare and make decisions with care teams, creating a foundation for individualized care (Bokhour et al., 2018). There are three tenets of the theory of caring:

(a) knowing and understanding another's needs, (b) adjusting behaviors to reduce mistakes, (c) patience with growth and development (Bagnall et al., 2018). The three tenets of the theory of caring may enhance patient satisfaction, resulting in an overall improvement in patient outcomes.

Practicing the tenets of the theory of caring allows healthcare teams to understand patients' needs and vulnerabilities. Proper training and education involving compassionate care and theory of caring principles positively affects patient experiences (Saab et al., 2019). Creating a patient-centered environment is the most critical factor for healthcare leaders who emphasize value and care for every patient (Bruno et al., 2017). Creating a healthcare environment that allows patients to feel cared for and respected while developing higher standards of perceptions of care improves outcomes of patients and healthcare organizations.

Helping patients grow and develop through support and encouragement is a means of caring for another human (Houghton et al., 2014). Caring is a process that

provides meaning, creates harmony and order, and inspires individuals to heal and grow (Bailey, 2009). Caring behaviors within healthcare organizations are about patient satisfaction (Ellina et al., 2020). Through the theory of caring, healthcare leaders who create environments built on caring for patients may improve patient satisfaction and wellbeing.

The theory of caring is essential to the process of caring and improving the health of others. Having skills and knowledge to implement the theory of caring allows healthcare providers to focus on each patient as an individual, stimulating growth and healing. The theory of caring provides the foundation for creating a comprehensive approach to patient care, specifically in healthcare (Bailey, 2009). This holistic approach focused on the health and care of each patient shows the importance of accountability through caring. Fostering the tenets of the theory of caring and creating a patient-centered culture enhances care provided through attention and education for all patients.

Theory of Caring and Related Theories

Ten theories fall within the context of Mayeroff's theory of caring. The 10 theories are: (a) Watson's transpersonal caring theory, (b) Swanson's middle range theory of caring, (c) Leininger's theory of culture care, (d) Gaut's theoretical description of caring, (e) Knowlden's communication of caring in nursing, (f) Halldorsdottir's theory of caring and uncaring encounters within nursing and healthcare, (g) Boykin and Schoenhofer's nursing as caring theory, (h) Ray's theory of bureaucratic caring, (i) Sister (Sr.) Roach's human mode of being, and (j) the Geropalliative caring model. These theories all pertain to aspects of caring for other human beings and provisions of care.

Of the 10 theories, three are most relevant to improving patient satisfaction: Halldorsdottir's theory of caring and uncaring, Ray's theory of bureaucratic caring, and Roach's theory of caring as the human mode of being. Each of these theories includes tenets that improve patient satisfaction in healthcare organizations: communication with patients and their families, care for whole patients physically, emotionally, and spiritually, and responsibility for patients.

Halldorsdottir's Theory of Caring and Uncaring

Applied to nursing and healthcare encounters, Halldorsdottir's theory of caring and uncaring emphasizes the importance of creating professional and caring relationships with individuals who seek care. The tenets of Halldorsdottir's theory include connecting with patients by developing communication plans during episodes of care and reducing lack of communication or negative communication toward patients. Communication and building relationships are the foundation of patient-centered care (Söderman et al., 2018). Theory of caring can assist in identifying subjective experiences of individuals who need or receive care from clinicians (Halldorsdottir, 1996). Professional care and communication between the clinician and the patient create a positive health outcome for the patient

In healthcare, clinicians providing care to patients have a responsibility to ensure that patients feel safe and cared for while under the care of healthcare providers. Patients who have negative or unpleasant interactions in healthcare organizations may have adverse health outcomes that prevent them from healing (Halldorsdottir, 2007). Caring requires a commitment to the wellbeing of others by supporting and encouraging specific

behaviors (Houghton et al., 2014). The provision of care can positively or negatively affect patients; Halldorsdottir's theory of caring and uncaring involves identifying the importance of caring for patients as individuals with respect and dignity. The Halldorsdottir's theory of caring and uncaring relates to this study through the theory of caring and the importance of establishing relationships and open communication with every patient.

Ray's Theory of Bureaucratic Caring

Ray's theory of bureaucratic caring centers on caring from a spiritual and ethical perspective. The theory is associated with giving and charity specific to services for homebound individuals who require well-trained and balanced clinicians to provide care, comfort, and fulfillment (Johnson, 2015). Tenets of the theory of bureaucratic caring include spiritual wellbeing and clinical education and social elements of care relative to the patient population, such as access to medication (Bailey, 2009). Through Ray's theory of bureaucratic caring, clinicians can contribute to wellbeing through improved safety measures and assurance of patients' adherence to treatment plans.

Healthcare providers offer support to individuals who are homebound and need medical assistance. Healthcare employees provide more resources for patients and their families to ensure improved quality of life using technical aspects, such as educating the patient about the details of the disease and care provided, legal aspects, such as access to fair and equitable care, or economic aspects, such as access to affordable medication, of patient care and wellbeing (Johnson, 2015). Individualized managed care allows patients

to participate in their treatment and play a supportive role in terms of quality of care received.

According to Wagner et al. (2001), patient care is the responsibility of the entire health team. In conjunction with the bureaucratic care model, the chronic care model involves quality improvements for patients, clinicians, and healthcare leaders by implementing quality measures allowing patients to rate the quality of care received from healthcare teams (Wagner et al., 2001). Through these ratings, healthcare leaders gain insight into what healthcare teams experience while caring for patients.

To improve healthcare outcomes, the healthcare effectiveness data information set measures patient care outcomes, created by the National Quality Council (Potter & Wilson, 2017). Healthcare effectiveness data tool supplies metrics focused primarily on the patient's behavior, thus placing some responsibility on the patient to improve healthcare outcomes (Potter & Wilson, 2017). Through these measures, patients receive education to maintain wellness plans in order to address individual responsibility of quality of care.

The chronic care model functions through an organized delivery system connecting resources of healthcare organizations to patients within the community, creating pathways to equitable care. To effectively use the chronic care model, an organized delivery system with valuable resources, such as pamphlets and educational sessions, that the local community can use outside of healthcare organizations should exist (Wagner et al., 2001). Healthcare leaders who use community outlets, such as community centers and social service organizations, provide patient education as a

community partner, building bridges to patient education about chronic health conditions and the available treatments within a health system (Wagner et al., 2001). The community partners act as a coach, providing essential information to aid patients with quality care and improving perceptions of care for healthcare organizations.

The chronic care model includes a framework to improve outcomes of patients with chronic diseases. The chronic care model involves six elements of care that support constructive feedback and planning from the perspective of the people within the community, the patients', and the leaders of the healthcare organization (Llewellyn, 2019). Components of the chronic care model include (a) community resources, (b) self-care management support, (c) organization of healthcare (OHC), (d) delivery system design (DSD), (e) clinical decision support (CDS), and (f) computer information systems (CIS) (Llewellyn, 2019). Chronic care model elements work together simultaneously to achieve desired outcomes involving improvement of patients' overall experience and health (Llewellyn, 2019). Patients establish support and guidance within healthcare organizations and communities, jointly fostering an environment of care.

Resource leaders advocate for healthcare organizations and patients by providing available resources to patients. Resources include peer groups, counseling, and outreach for specific research trials available to the local community (Llewellyn, 2019; Wagner et al., 2001). Self-management support involves (a)collaborative goal setting, (b) routine assessments of health management, and (c) problem-solving and planning of health outcomes. Self-management provides education culturally tailored to the patient's lifestyle and disease (Llewellyn, 2019; Wagner et al., 2001). Self-management allows

patients to maintain independence and responsibility for their own wellness and care, supporting patients to improve health outcomes.

The health system-organization of healthcare (OHC) is the third element of the chronic care model. The OHC is a review of the culture within a healthcare organization. Through the OHC, the mechanics and culture of health systems require senior leadership intervention in terms of creating a top-down leadership approach for health system changes and initiatives (Llewellyn, 2019). Through motivation and support of senior leadership, healthcare leaders may improve chronic illness care improving patient outcomes and preventions. The OHC reflects the need for support by senior leadership to implement changes such as the culture and the mechanics of the healthcare organization to improve patient satisfaction while engaging employees.

The delivery system design (DSD) is the fourth element of the chronic care model. Using the DSD, leaders define roles of healthcare workers and create standards and expectations to provide quality patient care (Wagner et al., 2001). Through these standards, healthcare leaders can create a culture of caring focused primarily on patients and improving health outcomes.

The fifth element of the chronic care model, the clinical decision support (CDS) element, functions with patient-centered care guidelines that work to improve patient care and outcomes. The CDS element is the most effective element, with established patient-centered guidelines that define the goals and expectations of care (Wagner et al., 2001). Creating a care plan for each patient and goals for patient care may play a key role in patient-centered care and wellbeing of overall patients.

The sixth element of the chronic care model, the clinical information system (CIS), the CIS element highlights the technological aspects of patient care. The CIS is an electronic communication tool that healthcare providers use to ensure communication between patients and providers. This involves collecting and organizing patient data, including feedback and reminders for patients and providers (Llewellyn, 2019). The elements of the chronic care model, combined with Ray's bureaucratic care model, served as a guide for healthcare organizations to improve patient outcomes centered around better patient care.

Roach's Theory of Caring, the Human Mode of Being

Roach's theory of caring, the human mode of being, reviews the moral aspect of caring for oneself and others. Roach's theory of caring, the human mode of being, focuses on the holistic way of caring for self and others as a moral endeavor for everyone (Villeneuve et al., 2016). Roach developed a caring practice, defining six tenets that align with the human mode of being on a spiritual level. The six tenets are (a) compassion, (b) competence, (c) confidence, (d) conscience, (e) commitment, and (f) comportment offer deeper moral reasoning for caring for another (Villeneuve et al., 2016). Through these attributes, clinicians can create a culture of caring for every patient, enabling an environment for patients to improve their health outcomes.

The first attribute, compassion, highlights the awareness of a relationship with all living creatures. The second attribute reflects individuals who show competence by providing their skills and expertise to deliver professional, responsible care to others (Villeneuve et al., 2016). The third attribute indicates an individual who displays

confidence in fostering a quality relationship with another (Villeneuve et al., 2016). The reflection of conscience, the fourth attribute of Roach's theory, is when a person cares for another; one must have a conscience that directs the behaviors and thoughts toward an ethical outcome (Villeneuve et al., 2016). The fifth attribute is a commitment to provide quality care for another regardless of whether the care is a choice or an obligation (Villeneuve et al., 2016). The sixth attribute, comportment, entails accepting others and their beliefs (Villeneuve et al., 2016). Roach's theory has served as a model for the transformation of caring in healthcare and the development of character among care providers (Villeneuve et al., 2016). Practicing Roach's theory of caring improves the quality of care provided by the clinician and the patient's perception of the care received.

Sustaining a Culture of Patient-Centered Care

Patient-centered care involves the patient and enhanced patient satisfaction. The physician and the patient work together as a team for a better outcome for the patient's well-being, establish human-to-human caring, align with the theory of caring tenets and create moments of caring with the patient (Delaney, 2018). Patient-centered care increases the patient's involvement in the care received to improve health outcomes, with the physician honoring the patient's wishes (Olson, 2019). Patient-centered care empowers the patient to become involved with and responsible for improving health outcomes, quality of life, and best practices to avoid recurring health issues.

Patient-centered care comprises five tenets. The tenets are: (a) the biopsychosocial perspective when the doctor appreciates the entire health problem from a social, psychological, and biomedical perspective; (b) the doctor as a human being, who expresses sensitivity toward the patient and the health condition; (c) the patient as a human being, where the doctor is concerned about the health condition and the patient; (d) sharing power and responsibility, as the doctor and the patient are involved in the decision-making process; and (e) therapeutic alliance, when the doctor and patient establish a personal and professional relationship to enhance the patient's experience and improve the initial health condition (De Boer et al., 2013). Patient satisfaction is pivotal to the existence of healthcare organizations (Ellina et al., 2020) and the development of patient-centered care practices. Patient-centered care is an essential function in improving patient outcomes and perceptions, as the care received focuses on the patients, making them a part of the healthcare team.

Patient-centered care in healthcare organizations across the United States and abroad is transitioning to the essential evolution of care, to establish best practices. Providing patient-centered care under any caring theory requires a commitment by clinicians to offer ethical, safe, and supportive treatment to patients and their families (Lee, 2019). Clinicians are responsible for caring behaviors to meet patient-centered care (Ellina et al., 2020). The commitment and responsibility of clinicians to provide patient-centered care encompass the ability to address each patient's unique needs, providing care and education on an individual level.

To create a culture focused on patient-centered care, clinicians need to establish and maintain a healthy, caring relationship with patients. Healthcare organizations with a focus on patient centered care have the potential to create a tailored care experience for individual patients (Kuipers et al., 2021). Caring is the factor that distinguishes clinicians

from other professionals because caring is the essence of a clinician's daily regime (Afaya et al., 2017). Caring occurs when the clinician attends to another and genuinely wants to provide care (Nicholson & Kurucz, 2017). Patient-centered care enhances the relationships between clinicians and patients (Nurse-Clarke et al., 2019). Being aware of caring behaviors and providing personalized care to each person is the embodiment of caring.

Caring for the whole person leads to relationships with the patient and the patient's family. It is critical for the healthcare provider to understand the experiences of the patient and the patient's family; to ensure that the care provided is patient and family centered care (Sorra et al., 2021). The caring relationship creates a fundamental human connection improving the perceived attitudes and activities (Nicholson & Kurucz, 2017). Patient-centered care is intrinsically vital to the quality-of-care outcomes (Larson et al., 2019). Through patient-centered care, the patient is the focal point, involved in the services received at every step of the treatment plan.

The delivery of care has changed vastly as the U.S. population has begun to age and become increasingly ill. The demand for high-quality, fundamental patient-centered care is at the core of patient care and satisfaction (Ellina et al., 2020). The clinician can only achieve patients' cultural needs and requirements through understanding and communication (Lee, 2019). Engaging in a relational and reflective process of education through conversation supports the development of patient care and welfare and improves the clinician's, leaders, and other healthcare employees' overall effectiveness (Nicholson & Kurucz, 2017). Leaders who support patient-centered care value an environment that

encourages improved patient care and patient perception. With continued awareness and leadership, providers can manage the health and well-being of the aging population through personalized care for each patient.

Physicians and nurses who practice patient-centered and fundamental care can influence a patient's attitude toward the care provided. Including patients in co-creation, sensitive care decisions with clinicians play a pivotal role in improving patient care and satisfaction (Lee, 2019). As an approach to patient-centered care, clinicians focus on what is of value and necessary to the patients and their families (Delaney, 2018). Patient-centered care as a practice always puts the patient at the center of healthcare to provide individualized treatment and improve as many outcomes as medically possible.

As healthcare leaders seek to implement a patient-centered care model to improve patient care and organizational financial outcomes, leaders establish a culture that reflects the theory of caring and influences patients' perception of care (Afaya et al., 2017). Building patient-centered care environments empower patient-provider relationships that enhance the goals of patient health outcomes (Bokhour et al., 2018). Healthcare providers who establish relationships with patients and the patient's family build a foundation of trust. Patient-centered care improves the patient's satisfaction and drives improved patient care and experiences and clinician accountability (Bokhour et al., 2018). Patient involvement is increasingly important to ensure proper delivery of care that meets the patients' needs (Seeralan et al., 2021). Including the whole patient in the care provided creates trust between the patient and the clinical team. Developing open communication

and involving the patient in decisions implies a culture of caring for the well-being of all patients.

Establishing professional, caring relationships with patients allows the patient to develop a bond and trust with the healthcare provider and the environment. Fostering patient-centered care invites the patient to participate in the care provided, creating a perception of caring and quality-driven healthcare (Boysen et al., 2017). Four elements of accessing good care are (a) humanistic care, or empowering patients' care, (b) relational care, or providing patients with communication that the patient can understand, (c) clinical care, or knowledge and skills required to provide clinical care; and (d) comforting care or providing a respectful environment and listening to the patient's needs (Kuis et al., 2014). Patients perceive clinicians as caring, responsive individuals. Practicing the elements of good care ensures the patient is the focus of the care given, guiding the patient to an improved health outcome.

Mayeroff's theory of caring provides the rationale for the conceptional framework for the study. The theory of caring indicates the ideals of delivering patient satisfaction by providing compassionate care to every patient. The theory of caring can empower clinicians with the knowledge and legitimacy of practicing patient care (Lee, 2018). Creating a culture of caring requires the clinicians to focus on the patient as an individual when providing care (Awdish, 2017). Establishing a culture of patient-centered care built on the foundation of the theory of caring within a healthcare organization improves patient trust and meaningful care.

Understanding Patients' Needs

Identifying and understanding the needs of patients through patient feedback is the second strategy healthcare leaders use to improve patient satisfaction. Patient satisfaction is a broad term that encompasses personal feelings relative to the care received in a healthcare organization. The patient's experience may positively or negatively impact a healthcare organization based on the emotional consequences of a patient's perception of the care received (Arboleda et al., 2018). Negative patient experiences affect the patient and the organization greater than the positive patient experiences (Ling et al., 2021). According to Lee (2019), the measurement of patient experiences is related to the interactions and communication with the clinician.

Compiling the individual feedback results regarding patient satisfaction with healthcare experiences could indicate deficits in the services provided.

In healthcare organizations, HCAHPS and CGCAHPS serve as tools to identify and address areas of concern as voiced by individual patients. Through the CAHPS, patients provide feedback to healthcare leaders regarding the experiences encountered at specific healthcare facilities (CMS, n.d.). The results of the CAHPS allow for reimbursement or deduction for services rendered based on the patients' experience (Onukogu, 2018), which could have a negative financial impact on healthcare organizations. With the changes in Medicare reimbursement policies, patient satisfaction is a large portion of the reimbursement to healthcare organizations (Chen et al., 2020). Implied in the use of CAHPS is that healthcare leaders will implement the 2appropriate measures to ensure that every patient receives a satisfactory visit.

The PPACA outlines the requirements for healthcare leaders to create provisions that include improved patient satisfaction and quality reporting. Measurement sets rely on clinician communication, technology, type of care and services, and patients' engagements with staff (Lee, 2019). Patient satisfaction ratings guide quality improvement efforts by holding healthcare leaders accountable to the patients and communities served (Larson et al., 2019). Patient experience measures and reporting give patients a voice regarding the care received to improve patient and actionable physician feedback (Golda et al., 2018). The CAHPS provides healthcare leaders with direct insight into the patients' experience and may offer recommendations to improve service, quality, and care.

CAHPS, supplies feedback to leaders, usually related to service, quality, care, and facility appearance. The CAHPS is a way to solicit patient involvement to make improvements and keep a significant patient base. CMS originally developed the HCAHPS, a national standardized patient satisfaction tool used to incentivize value-based care and patient satisfaction (Dottino et al., 2019). The CGCAHPS, created later, measures the quality of healthcare from the patients' perspective based on personal experiences with the physicians and clinical staff (CMS, n.d.). The CAHPS follows principles that reliably access patient experiences based on standardized questions and protocols to ensure that data are comparable across diverse healthcare settings. The CAHPS is CMS's effort to improve healthcare in the U.S., and healthcare leaders use the data to ensure a better quality of care from the moment the patient enters the healthcare organization.

CMS uses the CAHPS to survey patients about a recent healthcare experience, randomly. Patient's perception of care influences reimbursement for clinicians (Lindsay, 2017). Clinicians who demonstrate high patient satisfaction through patient-centered care receive reimbursement from CMS at a higher rate for improved performance (Lindsay, 2017), making healthcare more patient-centered with a value-based, incentivized performance for physicians. Through the CAHPS, healthcare leaders can facilitate reflections and opportunities to improve patient care in addition to reinforce behavior changes amongst healthcare employees and physicians (Spinnewijn et al., in press). To practice healthcare transparency, to increase patients' participation by making the best decision for care, CMS publicly shares patient ratings of healthcare organizations and clinicians.

Through the CAHPS, patients now have a voice in healthcare to impose change and become active in the care received. Since the implementation of the Hospital Value-Based Purchasing (VBP) program, quality of care and patient satisfaction helps to determine reimbursement rates based upon using the results of the CAHPS (Lindsay, 2017). The CGCAHPS monitors patient satisfaction with healthcare visits (Adhikary et al., 2018), allowing individuals to rate the level of service received. Healthcare leaders and physicians seek the most efficient way to deliver quality care and patient satisfaction and improve outcomes to remain competitive (Lee, 2019). Poor patient satisfaction may create financial risk for healthcare leaders, increasing the need to improve patient satisfaction.

CAHPS are patient-reported outcomes, measured by experiences or perceptions toward the care and concern received. Many healthcare leaders have altered the organization's culture to supports individualized patient care and patient participation in care (Lee, 2019). Providing patient-centered care is essential to a high-quality healthcare system; therefore, establishing strategies that enhance patient experiences creates value for the healthcare organization (Lee, 2019). Healthcare leaders ask for patient reviews to change the organization's culture, thus meeting patient's need and keeping a high-level reputation for satisfaction, quality, and care.

The value-based program rewards healthcare providers with incentives for providing quality care to patients with Medicare to support improved care for individuals. Through the value-based program, clinicians receive incentives to provide better care for patients and communities and decreased costs to patients (CMS, n.d.). The value-based program allows for payments to providers based on the quality-of-care patients received instead of the number of patients the provider has seen (CMS, n.d.). Transitioning the focal point of a healthcare visit to the actual patient instead of the number of patients the physician sees may improve the patients' overall outlook of healthcare.

The CMS website shares the results of the CAHPS, allowing consumers and patients to review hospital ratings. The results of the CAHPS affect a percentage of the PPACA's hospital value-based purchasing program. A percentage of the program reimbursements results from the CAHPS scores, and these scores predict the compensation disbursed to healthcare organizations (CMS, n.d.). In addition to the value-based purchasing program, CMS currently withholds a percentage of Medicare payments

to healthcare organizations (CMS, n.d.). As CMS enhances the value-based purchasing program payments, healthcare leaders seek strategies to improve patient satisfaction to enhance the competitive advantage in healthcare (Lee, 2019). With the now continuous review of payments, the withholding of reimbursements will increase year after year. CAHPS results could affect the overall finances for healthcare organizations, including physicians' reimbursement through CMS. Physicians who provide average performance will not experience a change in pay, while physicians who perform below standards; or worse than average; will receive a decrease in payment. CMS shifted its reimbursement from the quantity of care to quality of care to lower costs for healthcare organizations and maintained sustainability (CMS, n.d.). The most significant bonus payment allowed to clinicians is equivalent to a percentage of Medicare fees (CMS, n.d.). The incentive is a method to improve patient care and quality, with better results for the healthcare organization.

CMS provides reimbursement for the number of services given to patients, and the quality of the service provided based on the patients' perception of care. Determining the quality of services given includes a review of the clinician, the administrative team, and the use of patient experience to determine reimbursement (CMS, n.d.). It uses the value-based payment system to reward healthcare providers for excellent care, with payments adjusted based on the patients' perceived quality of care (CMS, n.d.). Reimbursement for services provided aligns with the value-based payment system, indicating that patient visits must meet or exceed the patients' expectations if organizations receive maximum payments.

Through CMS reporting, healthcare leaders measure and evaluate how often a provider gives the best treatment and results. Healthcare leaders can assess the department's performance and implement changes to improve patient satisfaction using the results of the CAHPS. CAHPS findings also allow consumers to compare services and physicians using the CMS hospital compare website (CMS, n.d.) or Physician Compare website, and other hospital and academic health centers' websites made available for the public audience (Golda et al., 2018). The review of clinicians and services provides healthcare transparency for individuals to make healthcare decisions based on patients' perceptions of care received.

CMS launched the Hospital Compare database in 2005. Consumers use the database to inform consumers and patients about individual physicians and the healthcare organizations in which the physicians work through patient reviews and feedback as reported through the CAHPS (CMS, n.d.). CMS encourages and empower patients to make patient care decisions using Medicare's compare tools (CMS, n.d.). The site provides information to consumers on the quality-of-care patients received from specific providers and support staff. Consumers can access the information they need to make informed decisions about healthcare and physicians (CMS, n.d.). The website also allows individuals to review information about patients' experiences, quality of care, complications, readmissions, deaths, and the value of care (CMS, n.d.). Healthcare leaders can draw upon patient reviews to ensure that individuals receive adequate care at every visit.

Many patient's perceptions begin the moment they enter the healthcare facility. Others develop positive assessments of quality service through ongoing communication with healthcare workers, who keep patients abreast of all aspects of treatment (P. Leonard, 2017). Patient's reported communication expectations show differences in how healthcare providers keep them informed (Grocott & McSherry, 2018). Research shows that an overwhelming proportion of patient complaints are related to interpersonal communication (Stewart, 2018). Patient feedback aids in understanding the needs and concerns of patients and improves communication between the patient and the clinician (Thornton et al., 2017). Addressing patient's concerns and providing adequate feedback in a prompt and efficient manner may improve the patient's perception of the healthcare organization.

Patient satisfaction is an intended result of the care patients receive at every visit.

With the increase in awareness of CAHPS results, healthcare leaders are adopting transformational and innovative processes to improve patient satisfaction (Delaney, 2018). Healthcare is evolving into patient-centered care, improving patient outcomes while holding healthcare leaders and clinicians accountable for quality services.

Continuous improvement to patient satisfaction must include all aspects of the healthcare organization, which could otherwise result in poor reviews for the healthcare organization.

Compliance

The third strategy healthcare leaders use to improve patient satisfaction is to ensure compliance with CMS patient satisfaction regulations, thus minimizing financial

risk. To achieve compliance and reduce financial hardship, healthcare leaders look to build sustainable, resilient, cost-efficient, and value-based organizations. Insurers are enforcing physicians and other providers to deliver on the growing demand for value-based care and provide safe, high quality, and affordable care to every patient (Padilla, 2017). Value-based healthcare aligns with patient-centered care, patient satisfaction, and positive perception of care.

Value-based care has created a shift in healthcare delivery to patients, creating an environment of quality, safety, and transparency. Healthcare leaders acknowledge the need to shift delivery to a value-based system (Kanters & Ellimoottil, 2018). Value-based care allows for optimal use of resources that enabling physicians to improve healthcare outcomes at the patient, population, and care levels (Jani et al., 2018). Healthcare leaders who identify the interventions needed to increase value base care reflect a reduction in cost and an improvement in the quality of care (Xu et al., 2020). Value-based care ensures the patient is involved in healthcare decisions creating an environment of transparency.

Healthcare reform has created challenges for healthcare leaders. Under the PPACA, the healthcare culture has adapted to declining reimbursement rates, reduced research funding, and expectations of lower cost, higher quality from payers and insurers (Itri et al., 2017). The rising cost of healthcare creates ambiguity in the relationship between the quality of care and healthcare spending, resulting in an urgent need to strategize efficient payment methods that align with quality care and value (Resnick, 2018). The U.S. government is the largest healthcare insurance payer, providing coverage

to over 71 million individuals in the Medicare and Medicaid programs (Resnick, 2018). The goal of the Department of Health and Human Services is to have 90% of Medicare's fee-for-service payments linked to quality or value while favoring a transition to alternative payment models.

Various factors affect healthcare spending increases, and those factors include multiple factors associated with technology, spending, and quality of care. According to the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (n.d.), the estimated average annual expenditure on healthcare is \$10,000 per U.S. citizen. Healthcare in the United States is the most significant expense in household consumption (Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, n.d.). Reasons for the rising U.S. healthcare costs include medication cost, physician reimbursement, and a fragmented care delivery system (Owaid, 2017). The increase in Medicare enrollments contributes to the rise in healthcare spending sponsored by the federal, state, and local governments, with an expected increase of 47% by 2027 (CMS, n.d.). As the population grows, the citizens age and face illness; thus, the increasing cost of care could decrease patient care.

The need for healthcare insurance continues to rise as patients develop health issues and emergencies. Healthcare per capita cost in the United States is the highest among industrialized nations, Medicaid state spending in 2017 increase to 29%, up from 20.5% in 2000 (Emanuel, 2018). Access to health insurance is available to individuals who are employed (private insurance or marketplace), low-income (Medicaid), or over the age of 65 years (Medicare). Medicaid is a state-funded benefit with an inflation rate higher than any segment of the state budget (Emanuel, 2018). When an uninsured patient

seeks a physician's care, the healthcare organization may have to cover the cost of care. Although a patient with Medicare or Medicaid insurance receives care, healthcare reimbursement covers only a portion of the cost. Because many patients lack insurance coverage, healthcare leaders must rely on patients with private insurance to balance spending and investments for a sustainable fiscal model (Sowers, 2016). However, depending primarily on private insurance could create additional financial risk for healthcare organizations.

Improved incentive programs are a method to deliver safe, quality patient care by providing incentives to physicians. The Hospital Quality Incentive Demonstration, a voluntary CMS program from 2003 to 2009, became the model for the hospital value-based purchasing program established after the PPACA (Bonfrer et al., 2018). The hospitals that took part in the Hospital Quality Incentive Demonstration received financial incentives to improve quality, providing those hospitals with a competitive advantage (Bonfrer et al., 2018). Early evidence suggests that the hospital value-based program has had minimal impact on patient outcomes, including the hospitals that volunteered for the Hospital Quality Incentive Demonstration program (Bonfrer et al., 2018). Value-based care is a way to improve patient perceptions through the quality of care, healthcare transparency, and healthcare safety.

To transition to a value-based care plan, the Department of Health and Human Services moved most Medicare fee-for-service payments to other payment models. The moved models included bundled payments, accountable care organizations, and changing fee-for-service reimbursement based on patient experience, harm, and quality (Francis &

Clancy, 2016). Half of the payments made are through alternative payment models, such as accountable care organizations or bundled payment arrangements (Arnold, 2017). The implementation of the PPACA included many financial changes. The Medicare Disproportionate Share Hospital funding became available for uncompensated care payments after reducing in the percentage of uninsured patients in 2014 (CMS, n.d.). As the number of uninsured patients grows, the need for uncompensated care payments increases.

The fee for service compensation metric provides payments to physicians for services rendered for patient care. Using a value-based compensation metric, CMS makes payments based on the value of care each patient receives. The compensation metric for physicians replaces the volume of patients with the value of care provided to patients (Miller & Mosley, 2016). In 2019, Medicare implemented a replacement formula for physician payments (CMS, n.d.). The new method requires physicians to choose one of two ways to participate in the Medicare payment system (Miller & Mosley, 2016): the merit-based incentive payment system (MIPS) or the advanced alternative payment model (APM). Providers must participate in one of the programs in the performance year 2018 or will be subject to a 5% penalty in the payment year 2020 (Copeland & Woo, 2018). If the provider chooses not to participate in one of the programs in a performance year, the physician is subject to a payment penalty 2 years later (Woo et al., 2018). The method holds the physician accountable for participation and payments in providing safe and quality care to every patient, regardless of the number of patients seen.

The first value-based option includes MIPS which combines the physician quality reporting system and meaningful use into one program to provide physicians with a quality score. The higher the quality score, the higher the reimbursement rates. If the quality score stays at the set average, there will be no adjustment; if the quality score is below the set average, the Medicare payment will be subject to reduction or elimination (Miller & Mosley, 2016). Thus, value-based compensation metrics pose a further financial risk to the healthcare organization if their physicians do not meet the quality scores.

The MIPS uses a scoring system from 1 to 100. Physicians with scores between 3.76 and 14 will receive a negative payment adjustment of five percent in 2020 for the performance year 2018 (Woo et al., 2018). A score of 15 does not include a change. In contrast, a score of 16 to 69 earns a positive five percent adjustment and scores 70 and above qualify for an outstanding performance adjustment of a shared \$500 million bonus among all exceptional performers (Woo et al., 2018). Four component categories make up the final score: (1) Quality of service provided equals 50% of the score, (2) advancing care information is 25% of the score, (3) Improvement activities are 15% of the score, and (4) Cost management is the remaining 10%. Each category is weighted and calculated differently and individually to the performance year 2018 and all performance years after that (Woo et al., 2018). The 2018 performance scores reflected an adjustment to the Medicare Part B payments in 2020 (Woo et al., 2018). 2019 was the first payment year for MIPS, bonuses or penalties were paid up to 4% to participating U.S. healthcare providers, by 2022 the payments will be adjusted up or down by 9% (Johnston et al.,

2020). As healthcare leaders adjust to the outcome of the adjusted annual payments, there may be a continuous change in the delivery of healthcare due to these requirements.

The second choice, the alternate payment model (APM), includes a medical group of physicians who take a lump sum of money to care for a specific group of patients. If the physicians provide care for the patient and meet specific quality metrics, the physicians can keep any money remaining from the lump-sum payment as set by the APM. The APM aligns with high-value services (CMS, n.d.). Participants in this model will receive a 5% bonus each year from 2019 to 2024, equal to the Medicare Part B payments (Opelka et al., 2018). In 2026, physicians will qualify for a 0.75% increase in payments every subsequent year (Miller & Mosley, 2016). The payment model can be beneficial to the healthcare leaders who support higher quality scores and patient satisfaction through the physicians' commitment to delivering quality care to every patient.

Like MIPS, the APM payments depend on reported quality measures with at least one outcome measure. The outcome measure includes 50% usage of a certified electronic medical record within the healthcare organization; if healthcare organizations cannot meet quality measures, they will assume the financial risk of monetary loss (Kuebler, 2017). Healthcare organizations with a productive population health model could achieve ample cost savings resulting in more increases in physician payments (Ali & Dinizio, 2018). The details of the APM model are still in the planning stages to ensure the APM model is fair for all clinicians and physicians.

Consumers' perception of the care received affects financial incentives for healthcare organizations. The CMS hospital compare website presents the results of patient experiences allowing consumers and patients to review the hospitals they are considering for care. The PPACA's hospital value-based purchasing program bases reimbursement on CAHPS scores, leading to unfavorable compensation or favorable reimbursement. In addition to the value-based purchasing program, CMS currently withholds three percent of the Medicare payments.

As CMS enhances the value-based purchasing program for payments, healthcare leaders seek strategies to improve patient perceptions of care. To adapt to the continuous changes of healthcare, healthcare leaders need to continuously pursue innovative processes to maintain sustainability (Persaud & Murphy, 2020). The value-based program rewards healthcare providers with incentives for providing quality care to patients with Medicare supporting improved care, better health for patients and the communities they live in, and decreased patient costs (CMS, n.d.). The value-based program allows for payments to providers based on the quality of the care patients received instead of the number of patients seen (CMS, n.d.). The value-based program provides incentives for physicians to focus more on preventative care and spending more time with patients.

Dedicated Leadership Skills

The fourth strategy named is the healthcare leader's role in improving patient satisfaction through dedicated leadership skills. Strong leadership plays a significant role in improving and supporting a patient-centered healthcare organization. As healthcare leaders adjust to healthcare reform, training and educating solid and dedicated leaders is

equally important to improve patient satisfaction and organizational financial health. Through solid leadership skills, the benefits of employee engagement and patient satisfaction may be limitless (Rotenstein et al., 2019). Hospitals with the highest performance levels have used transformational leaders who empower employees, build staff engagement in decision-making processes, and create an evenly distributed leadership team (Lee et al., 2019). Through transformational leadership, healthcare leaders may have the opportunity to foster new and improved processes and procedures for engaging employees and patients.

The healthcare industry is undergoing significant transformations through healthcare reform and the PPACA. Leaders need to develop practical skills to ensure a robust, teamwork-based foundation through those transformations, grounded on the principle that improving patient care and satisfaction is the organization's primary organizational goal. The greatest need is for healthcare leaders who are dedicated quality clinical care delivery (Kelly, 2021). To maintain validity, healthcare organizations must adjust to various elements of patient demand, including changes in leadership structure, culture, and goals (Peng et al., 2021). Transformational leadership has become a prevalent style across many industries, especially healthcare (Giddens, 2018). A transformational leader can positively influence change and job satisfaction, thus reducing clinical errors and creating an optimal workplace (Seljemo et al., 2020). Through the changes set forth by the PPACA, leaders with a strong focus on patient care and patient outcomes are allies in improving patient satisfaction, having the ability to lead the healthcare organization to improved patient satisfaction and financial stability.

Interest in transformational leadership has increased as the need for dedicated and focused leadership has grown and developed in diverse organizations, especially healthcare. Transformational leadership in healthcare influences organizational and individual outcomes to achieve the organization's goals through inspiration and excitement (Alqatawenah, 2018). As the healthcare industry faces ongoing reform, the organization's success relies on the capacity for change implementation (Spaulding et al., 2017). Healthcare requires providers to put the patient first while leadership requires providers to make decisions based on the business of healthcare (Bronson & Ellison, 2021). Creating a healthcare environment with a primary focus on the patient requires change agents with a record for improving service, care, and teamwork to meet the needs of all patients, as required by the PPACA.

Through the required healthcare reform changes, creating a strong leadership culture focused on patient perceptions and care is key to maintaining a solid healthcare organization. Engaged and robust leadership are invaluable traits in healthcare and crucial to the changes necessary for quality improvement. Transformational leaders establish trust with employees and emphasize the organization's goals creating an atmosphere empowered through growth and development (Asif et al., 2019a). Communicating and listening are the core of effective leadership, leaders with these skills can articulate the vision and goals of the organization to every employee within the organization, regardless of the position title (Sacks & Margolis, 2021). Healthcare leaders should clearly explain the goals; for change and the rationale behind those goals, launch a clear, concise vision of how the change will improve patients' overall care. The American

Institute of Medicine recommends transformation leadership as a leadership style used to create the highest-level work environment that focuses on patient safety and employee engagement (Seljemo et al., 2020). Leaders' and physicians' commitment to strengthening and improving patient care is critical to the healthcare organizations' initiatives (Bokhour et al., 2018). Leaders play a pivotal role in serving as a model for organizational goals and initiatives. Engaged healthcare leaders help to strengthen employees, which results in improved patient outcomes. Shared experience through open dialogue between leaders and employees further engages the employees and sets an example of transformational leadership.

In healthcare, the primary leadership styles are transformational and ethical leadership. Transformational leaders play a significant role in effecting the changes needed to improve patient satisfaction in healthcare organizations, exhibiting engagement and relationships with employees while encouraging to improve processes. Ethical leaders also contribute significantly to improving patient satisfaction by using employee's creativity to engage and employ teamwork methods. Leaders serve as role models of expected behaviors and encouragement within the healthcare organization (Walumbwa et al., 2017). The healthcare organization's success depends on the leader's ability to engage employees to meet or exceed the organization's goals. Leaders enable followers to work toward a results-driven goal, despite the challenges (Gilson & Agyepong, 2018). Through those challenges and uncertain conditions, and exemplary leadership, leaders gain a better insight into the healthcare organizations' areas of improvement. Engaged healthcare leaders contribute to improved patient satisfaction (Bruno et al., 2017).

Employees reach a sense of empowerment in learning, leading to a better outcome for the healthcare organization.

Leaders who exhibit transformational leadership skills fall into one of four dimensions, befitting the title of a transformational leader. The four dimensions of transformational leaders are leaders with influence, individualized or supportive leaders, inspirational leaders, and leaders who provide intellectual stimulation (Jambawo, 2018). Transformational leaders positively influence the work environment and reduce adverse clinical events (Seljemo et al., 2020). Leading by example, motivation, and empowerment to work toward organizational goals is a hallmark of this leadership style. Transformational leaders show the skills needed in healthcare to implement and change processes, cultures, and patient care to improve patient satisfaction and the financial well-being of the healthcare organization.

Transformational leadership promotes employee engagement as a tool to meet organizational goals. Transformational leadership is an instrumental skill in healthcare. Crucial for boosting employee satisfaction, recognizing near-miss patient errors, and successful conflict resolution (Lee et al., 2019). Transformational leaders can encourage, convince, and motivate followers to challenge the current processes or usual ways of enriching innovative behaviors (Ng, 2017). Change is constant in healthcare; as such, leaders play a vital role in assuring employee engagement and quality patient care.

Another essential leadership skill often used by healthcare leaders is ethical leadership, promoting moral and equitable behaviors, employee creativity, and innovation (Duan et al., 2018). The characteristics of ethical leadership include fostering principled

and respectful practices for human dignity (Barkhordari-Sharifabad et al., 2017). Ideally, a leader who exhibits both transformational and ethical leadership skills ensure adherence to the people aspect of the organization. The practice of ethical leadership improves overall confidence in leaders and employees, thus increasing patient satisfaction and employee engagement. Healthcare warrants ethical leadership to empower employees to reduce conflict and misconduct with one another and patients (Walumbwa et al., 2017). Ethical leaders ensure the highest moral behaviors while implementing accountability tools to improve patient satisfaction and employee engagement.

Understanding the importance of transformational and ethical leaders and what these leaders can provide a healthcare organization is crucial for building a strong organization with positive results. Support for transformational and ethical leaders is vital for healthcare organizations to ensure that every patient and employee receives, has access to, and provides quality healthcare (Jambawo, 2018). Under the PPACA recommendations, leaders must develop and expand teamwork and support a robust, healthy work environment to continuously improve patient care and optimize performance (Geraghty & Paterson-Brown, 2018). With transformational and ethical leaders, employees engage in patient care and have a sense of responsibility to the healthcare organization to meet the needs of patients. Employees should be familiar with the leader's leadership styles and feel trusted and valued while supporting the needs of the organization and the leader (Purwanto et al., 2020). Establishing a culture of transparency builds trust among the teams, and a commitment to the leaders and the overall goal of the organization. Transformational leadership styles positively affect the

organization's performance (Purwanto et al., 2020). Top leaders (e.g., Chief Executive Officers) influence employee job satisfaction and improved job performance to implement change initiatives (Asif et al., 2019a). Transformational leaders lead with change through influence and engagement; ethical leaders lead through sincere beliefs and behaviors that promote creativity and risk-taking (Duan et al., 2018). Both styles of leaders focus on engaging employees, either through influence or creativity, supplying support and guidance for employees to be part of the organization's overall goal, either through creative ideas or engagement through personal development.

The American Nurses Credentialing Center of the American Nurses Association Magnet designation recognizes transformational leadership as a key leadership principle in guiding and improving healthcare leadership. The recognition of transformational leadership as a principal part of nursing and healthcare leadership encourages leadership in the reform of healthcare (Lee et al., 2019). Healthcare leaders who invest in the clinical team and quality service receive Magnet designation recognition, showing the highest level of nursing care quality (Tubbs-Cooley et al., 2017). Leaders who create and promote a supportive, professional, innovative Magnet designation environment foster quality improvements and healthcare excellence (Pabico & Graystone, 2018). The prestigious Magnet designation further supplies advanced quality measures that reflect the healthcare organization's status for leadership and quality throughout the United States.

Quality improvement plays a significant role in the changes in healthcare, allowing patients to feel confident in the treatment received. Effective leadership must

continuously learn through adaption and innovation in the changing environment (Persaud & Murphy, 2020). Patient safety, clinical effectiveness, and patient satisfaction are critical components of quality healthcare (Kumar & Khiljee, 2016). Leaders who focus on quality seek to improve upon and learn the most effective methods for quality improvements tailoring the changes to the needs and resources of the organization (Sandberg, 2018). Patient satisfaction has started a charge in healthcare leadership as a partnership with patients and building and encouraging employees a call to action in healthcare organizations (Wolf, 2017). Through strong quality measures and accountability practices, leaders can keep patient care as a primary focus for all employees.

Through dedicated leadership, healthcare leaders can create better health outcomes for patients by engaging physicians and patients jointly to improve the quality of care of every individual. Understanding the needs of patients means including patients in the decisions related to their care. Embracing patient satisfaction in healthcare is a critical indicator of the need to set up strategic plans and goals to provide a better quality of care by understanding the needs of patients (Batbaatar et al., 2017). Implementing patient satisfaction interventions may improve patient perceptions through compassionate care and dedicated healthcare leaders who seek quality improvements and financial stability for the organization.

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies healthcare leaders use to improve patient satisfaction. Researchers have presented consistent information relative to the CAHPS and quality care, with many scholars

addressing patient satisfaction worldwide (Batbaatar et al., 2017). There is a need for more rigorous research to identify effective interventions to improve patient satisfaction in healthcare.

Transition

In Section 1, the goal of this study was to explore strategies healthcare leaders used to improve patient satisfaction. Section 1 of this study included (a) the Foundation of The Study, (b) the Research Questions, (c) the Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations, and (d) the Significance of The Study. In the literature review, I explored the theory of caring, sustaining a culture of patient-centered care, understanding patients' needs, ensuring compliance, and supporting dedicated leadership skills. The foundation of the literature review included a discussion about the changes implemented by the creation of the PPACA and the role that patient satisfaction plays in healthcare organizations' financial viability. The problem statement and purpose statement included introducing the business problem and the case for further research. The literature review includes evidence that patient satisfaction in healthcare affects physicians and healthcare organizations. Further research will aid in the exploration of strategies to care for the whole patient, reduce healthcare costs, and improve patient satisfaction in healthcare.

In Section 2, I describe my role as the researcher. I focus on the methodology and design of the study, the participants, population and sampling, and ethical research. I will conduct a single case study by interviewing healthcare leaders who have successfully implemented strategies to improve patient satisfaction. My data collection and analysis plan include using interview data and reviewing one healthcare organization's archived

documents. The archived documents include patient satisfaction survey scores, leaders' notes, reports, standard operation procedures, reporting methods, training plans, and other documents related to improving patient satisfaction. I used software to support my findings and documentation.

In Section 3, I include a detailed description of the presentation of the findings, application to professional practice, and social change. The implication for social change includes investigating healthcare leaders' practices to improve patient satisfaction in healthcare. Healthcare leaders can use the findings from this study to improve patient satisfaction and the financial performance of healthcare organizations. The results of this single case study may create an awareness of the need to establish effective strategies to improve patient satisfaction in all healthcare organizations. I close Section 3 with recommendations for action for further research and reflections of the study.

Section 2: The Project

In Section 2, I describe the data collection process for the project. I discuss the purpose of this single case qualitative study, the role of the researcher and participants, and the research method and design. I reviewed data collection, data organization, and data analysis processes. Section 2 concludes with the importance of ethical research and steps I took to ensure reliability and validity of the study.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of the proposed qualitative single case study was to explore strategies healthcare leaders used to improve patient satisfaction. The target population included leaders of a healthcare organization located in metropolitan Detroit, Michigan who have successfully implemented strategies that improved patient satisfaction. The study could influence the way healthcare leaders address patient satisfaction and patients' perceptions of service quality, resulting in improved outcomes for patients and their families.

Role of the Researcher

In my role as the researcher, I selected participants and established relationships with them, worked to eliminate internal personal bias, and conducted interviews, reviewed archival documents, and reviewed databases for data collection. My role was to act as the primary data collector, ensuring validity, reliability, and prevention of any bias that hindered honest and fair data collection (van den Berg & Struwig, 2017). As the researcher and primary data collector, it was my responsibility to collect data to ensure reliability and validity. I had a limited professional networking relationship with each

participant as well as work experience within a healthcare organization. Because of healthcare networking events, limited preexisting relationships with each potential participant existed. I expected each participant to provide information about implementing successful strategies to improve patient satisfaction.

As the researcher, I am knowledgeable about patient satisfaction because I am a leader within a healthcare organization that has implemented strategies to improve patient satisfaction. As a leader, it is my responsibility to ensure that every patient receives quality care and service at every visit. I am also familiar with the topic because of my previous work experience within a healthcare organization that implemented strategies to improve patient satisfaction. Improved patient satisfaction is a daily commitment because decreased patient satisfaction based on the CGCAHPS and HCAHPS results can harm the profitability of healthcare organizations not meeting established targets. Inspired by my background in this study, I sought to understand healthcare organizations' social and financial obligations and the role that patient satisfaction has. My work involving patient satisfaction has led to the development of the research question.

Applying ethical standards in research is the researcher's responsibility, as is upholding honesty and transparency in the study (Cumyn et al., 2018). As the researcher, I did my best to eliminate bias and ethically collect and report data that aligns with *The Belmont Report*. *The Belmont Report* provides guidance for researchers to follow and ensure the ethical treatment of human participants (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). To ensure that I acted according to the tenets of *The Belmont Report*, I ensured respect for each

participant by providing informed consent forms, assessing risks and benefits of the project, and ensuring that each participant received fair treatment during research. To protect participants, I followed guidelines in the National Institutes of Health training course Protecting Human Research Participants.

To ensure the validity of the study, I developed processes to mitigate potential bias. Implementing implicit and explicit bias mitigation techniques is essential to mitigate bias (Babcock et al., 2016). Bias can directly and adversely impact quality of the study, as results of an investigation can be invalid if the researcher does not account for potential biases (Dunn et al., 2016). To mitigate bias, I acknowledged and set aside my perceptions and opinions regarding the topic.

I avoided viewing data using a personal lens via my data collection practices and member checking. Member checking is a necessary process used by researchers to help mitigate bias (Birt et al., 2016). Researchers use member checking to ensure that data reflects participants' views (Fusch & Ness, 2015). To mitigate bias, I audio-recorded interviews, transcribed interview responses, and then followed up with participants using member checking. Throughout interviews, I used an interview protocol to facilitate discussions and reduce bias.

I used an interview protocol to mitigate personal bias. An interview protocol can strengthen the reliability and quality of collected data from participant interviews (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). Interview protocols use core components to ensure that the collection of data is consistent. The core components of interviews include (a) establishing rapport with interviewees, (b) establishing ground rules for the interview,

and (c) using open-ended questions (Navarro et al., 2019). I used this interview protocol to collect data consistently and avoid bias (see Appendix). I established a neutral disposition during interviews with participants to ensure mitigation of bias.

Participants

The study included individuals who successfully implemented strategies to improve patient satisfaction. To gather meaningful data, researchers choose participants with knowledge of the research topic (Grafton et al., 2016; Newton, 2017). Identifying effective recruitment processes enables efficient and prompt data collection (Marks et al., 2017). To gain access to participants, I sent an email to the vice president of human resources. In this email, I explained my study and the data collection process. I requested access to healthcare leaders within the organization who implemented patient satisfaction strategies. Once I received approval for access to healthcare leaders from the vice present of human resources, I documented permission with letters of cooperation. The letter of cooperation included steps for participant selection, interviews, data collection, the member checking process, and voluntary and confidential practices of the study. After obtaining consent to collect data, I identified leaders who successfully used strategies to improve patient satisfaction.

Upon receipt of the signed letter of cooperation and participant contact information, I established working relationships with research participants. I contacted them using email invitations to participate in my study and continued our relationship through the interview process.

Research Method and Design

In this subsection, I discuss the qualitative research method and why I selected this method for my study. I then describe the qualitative research design, and reasons why the case study design was the most appropriate design for my study.

Research Method

There are three research methods for the study. The three research methods are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Yin, 2018). I employed the qualitative approach to explore strategies healthcare leaders used to improve patient satisfaction by gathering information from participants and interpreting findings. Researchers use the qualitative method to present information related to the study through interviews and data collection (Hewitt & Pham, 2018). The qualitative approach involves understanding perceptions through interviews and data collection (Cypress, 2017; Vass et al., 2017). The qualitative method was most appropriate for this study as I conducted interviews and data collection related to strategies used by healthcare leaders.

The quantitative approach requires close-end questions and involves testing hypotheses (Barnham, 2015; Saldaña, 2015). Hypothesis testing and analysis of variable relationships or differences was not a requirement to address the purpose of this study. The quantitative method involves measurable and quantifiable data (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). For this study, measurable and quantifiable data were not relevant; therefore, the quantitative approach was not appropriate for this study.

Mixed methods research includes both qualitative and quantitative data (Tillman et al., 2011). Researchers use the quantitative method to measure data and describe

aspects of a phenomenon (Morse, 2016). The mixed methods design was not appropriate for this study because I did not collect and analyze quantitative data.

Research Design

Researchers use one of four research designs to develop their research. The four research designs considered for this qualitative study were: (a) ethnography, (b) phenomenology, and (c) case study. After considering the four qualitative study designs, I selected a single case study research design.

Researchers use the ethnography design to focus on a cultural group and its values, behaviors, beliefs, and language through participant observation and documentation in natural settings (Anderson et al., 2014; Walliman, 2017). Researchers use the ethnography design to study participants and understand their culture (Garson, 2017). I selected a single case study research design after considering the three qualitative study designs. The ethnography design was not appropriate for this study as this study does not involve exploring a cultural group in a natural environment.

Researchers use the phenomenological design to highlight an event or phenomenon in terms of bringing together experiences, assumptions, and perceptions based on spoken or written accounts of personal experiences related through participant observations, interviews, and discussions (Anderson et al., 2014). Researchers who use the phenomenological design research experiences of participants in real life settings Lien et al., 2014). The phenomenological design was not appropriate for this study because this study is not about an individual participant's personal experiences with the phenomenon.

Case study researchers seek to conduct empirical explorations of phenomena within a real-world context bounded by time (Yin, 2018). Researchers who use the case study design seek to explore intricate research issues through a broad scope (Harrison et al., 2017). The case study design was most appropriate for this study because I explored a phenomenon within a real-life context. The case study design allowed me to gain insight into best practices to improve patient satisfaction in healthcare organizations.

Using extensive data collection techniques, I analyzed data from interviews, archival documentation, and CMS data from the hospital compare website. To achieve data saturation, the researcher must exhaust all available data (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I continued to interview healthcare leaders until no further information appeared, and I identified all themes and achieved data saturation. I conducted a rigorous study by gathering enough data through semi-structured interviews via member-checking, archival document reviews, and qualitative data obtained from the CMS hospital compare website to ensure data saturation.

Population and Sampling

The target population for this study was healthcare leaders (vice presidents and directors). The population is the information source from which the sample emerges (van Rijnsoever, 2017). For this study, each participant held a director or vice president position within a healthcare organization that used successful strategies to improve patient satisfaction.

The sample aligns with the purpose of the study and reflects the specific phenomenon that occurs with the target population. In qualitative research, sample sizes

tend to be smaller and include data-rich results based on interview questions (Vasileiou et al., 2018). The proposed sample size of this study was five healthcare leaders.

Using purposeful sampling, I selected participants who met criteria for participating in the study. Researchers use purposeful sampling to research quality data that relates to the phenomenon (Palinkas et al., 2015). Purposeful sampling helps in terms of identifying participants for information rich cases (Etikan et al., 2016). As purposeful sampling subjects, participants provided rich and unique data. Purposeful sampling was appropriate for this study because with the information rich data that purposeful sampling identifies, an in-depth understanding of the research.

Participants successfully implemented strategies to improve patient satisfaction as members of the senior leadership team. Participants had awareness of patient satisfaction scores, as reported in the CGCAHPS and HCAHPS. Focusing on participants that met criteria aided with relevant research. I collected data using interviews, archival documentation, and the CMS hospital compare website. In conducting interviews and reviewing archival documents from the healthcare organization, I ensured there was no new data, and no new themes emerged from collected data after reaching data saturation. I conducted interviews and member checking through virtual conference meetings. Meetings offered ample time for me to conduct thorough interviews. I requested archival documentation for review from participants during interviews. I reviewed the CMS hospital compare website to obtain the healthcare organizations CMS star ratings, which is comprised of 64 hospital quality measures categorized into 7 specific groupings: patient experience, mortality, safety of care, readmission, timeliness of care, effective

care, and use of medical imaging (CMS, n.d.). I reviewed the hospital compare website to get insight of the healthcare organization's overall patient satisfaction results.

Ethical Research

As the researcher, I am responsible for obtaining and presenting accurate information. To ensure credible research, participants received and signed informed consent forms that included the purpose and nature of the study, participant privacy and confidentiality, voluntary participation, and right to withdraw. Each participant reviewed and acknowledged consent (see Appendix) before participating in interviews. The informed consent form included the nature and purpose of the study, participant criteria, voluntary participation, confidentiality guidelines, and the role of participants.

For this study, if participants wished to withdraw from the study, they could do so by contacting me by email or telephone expressing the desire to withdraw from the study without explanation. In research, participants have the right to withdraw from the study at any time by requesting removal of data (Kaye et al., 2015). There were no consequences if participants chose to withdraw from the study at any time. There were no incentives for participating in the study.

I kept all collected data on a password-protected external flash drive used for the exclusive purpose of conducting this study and stored in a safe for a minimum of 5 years to protect confidentiality of participants and healthcare organization. After 5 years, I will discard data on the flash drive by deleting it to protect confidentiality. Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval number for this study is 04-02-

21-0551963. To ensure ethical protection, each participant received a unique numeric identifier from P1 to P5, and the healthcare organization remained confidential.

Data Collection Instruments

As the primary data collection instrument of this qualitative single case study, I conducted semistructured interviews and reviewed archived organizational documents to discover underlying themes. As the data collection instrument, the researcher must collect rich data and draw meaningful insight (Moon, 2015; Xu & Storr, 2012). The quality of the data collected relies on the data collection instrument, the researcher's ability to objectify and measure phenomena (Sutton & Austin, 2015; Xu & Storr, 2012). As the primary data collection instrument, I collected quality data objectively.

I collected data through semistructured one-on-one virtual conference interviews that included open-ended questions using an interview protocol (see Appendix) to guide the discussion. I followed the interview protocol to ensure interviews remained on track. In addition to conducting semistructured interviews, I asked participants to share organizational documents relevant to improving patient satisfaction. Archival documentation review is a process of collecting data from preexisting records (Pacho, 2015). The archival documentation review included reports, survey results, workflow, and process improvements that may highlight specific strategies used by healthcare leaders.

To improve the reliability and validity of the study, I used the interview protocol, which included the interview questions and member checking processes to ensure accurate data collection that validates each participant's interview. Member checking

allows the participant to review, comment, and approve the interpretations of the discussions, increasing the accountability and credibility of the research (Birt et al., 2016; Naidu & Prose, 2018). I summarized my interpretation of each interview response into a Microsoft Word document. I shared the synthesis of the interviews and member checking with each participant to ensure an accurate understanding of the interview responses.

Data Collection Technique

The data collection techniques that I used in this study included the data collected during the virtual semistructured interviews lead with open-ended questions, archived documents from the healthcare organization, and data collected from the CMS hospital database. Methodological triangulation in my study included three data collection techniques: virtual semistructured interviews, archival document review, and data from the CMS hospital compare website.

Semistructured Interviews

I collected data for the study by conducting semistructured video conferencing interviews using WebEx, one participant at a time, that included open-ended questions using an interview protocol (see Appendix) to guide the conversation. I emailed and introduced myself to the participants with an invitation to take part in my research study (see Appendix). Each interview that I conducted was audio recorded with the participant's consent as disclosed in the informed consent form (see Appendix). Using an interview protocol aids with the transparency and accuracy of the research to reduce bias (Galdas, 2017; Heydon & Powell, 2018; Wright et al., 2018). I created the interview questions to ensure the alignment of the purpose statement, the problem statement, and

the research question. I created the interview protocol to ensure that the conversations in the interviews remain on track and consistent with the research question. During the interviews, I kept a notepad to document nonverbal behavior, expressions, and other nuances not captured by the audio receiver. I audio recorded the participant interviews using WebEx video conferencing and one device for backup for technical difficulties. The backup device that I used was an iPhone 6s.

Upon reviewing the details of the study with the healthcare organization's leadership and receiving the signed Letter of Cooperation in agreement to allow the participation of five healthcare leaders, I sought to obtain archival documentation from the healthcare leaders. The archival documentation included patient satisfaction survey scores, leaders' notes, reports, standard operation procedures, reporting methods, training plans, and other documents related to improving patient satisfaction. The semistructured interviews include beginning each interview with the informed consent form outlining the participants' confidentiality, rights, and my contact information to reduce bias and address any questions or concerns from the participants.

Upon completing of the interview questions (see Appendix), I scheduled the 60-minute virtual conference member checking interview and confirmed the contact information for the participants. I ended the interview process and thanked the participants for their time. I again provided my contact information for follow-up questions and any concerns that the participants may have. I thanked each participant for their time. I turned off the audio recorder and concluded the interview. During the scheduled virtual conference member checking interviews (see Appendix), the following

steps took place: I turned on the audio recording device and noted the date and time of the interview. I began the 60-minute member checking virtual conference interview and ensured that the participants did not have any questions or concerns before starting the interview. I explained to the participants that the focus of the member checking interview was to confirm my interpretation of the interview responses and address any modifications to my variations of the interview.

The data collection technique, semistructured interviews, has disadvantages and advantages. A disadvantage of semistructured interviews includes the participants may feel discomfort with the interviewer and provide vague answers, maximizing the interviewer's influence in the research. Another disadvantage of semistructured interviews is timing; the participant's schedule is not conducive for the interviewer, potentially affecting the number of qualified participants for the study (McIntosh & Morse, 2015). The researcher's responsibility is to conduct unbiased research, which includes fair ethical treatment and may also include flexibility with participants to meet the needs of the research study.

An advantage of semistructured interviews includes the use of video conferences for the interviews. Video conference interviews offer flexibility and established control of the interview (Heath et al., 2018). Through video conference interviews, the interviewer can capture both verbal and nonverbal cues from the participants during the interview to help the interviewer identify any moments of discomfort or excitement during the interview.

Archival Documentation Review

I analyzed and reviewed archived documents from the healthcare organization's planning and implementation of best practices to improve patient satisfaction for data collection. Archival documentation review entails considering historical, present, and future data (Moore et al., 2016). The process of archived documentation review includes perusing the leaders' notes, patient satisfaction scores, and other material related to the improvement of patient satisfaction within the healthcare organization. An advantage of using archival documents includes understanding the healthcare organizations' business practices as related to patient satisfaction. Data analysis of the archival documents could produce the analysis of the data with one or more documents (Moore et al., 2016). A disadvantage of data collection of archival material is that some documents may be confidential. Another disadvantage of using archived documents includes lost, destroyed, or damaged documents (Patil & Karandikar, 2016). The request for archived documents may prove to be a challenge for the researcher if the healthcare leaders do not keep the records, resulting in further research to enhance the reliability of the data collection instrument.

CMS Hospital Compare Website

The review of the CMS hospital compare website served as a data collection technique that provided a global insight into CMS ratings of the healthcare organization and the patient perspective of the healthcare organization and the clinical care teams.

CMS created the hospital compare website as a tool to provide consumers with insight into how well healthcare clinicians provide care to patients and the overall performance

of healthcare organizations by comparing each to other healthcare organizations and clinicians. The hospital compare website is a consumer-based website that provides prospective patients with data collected from 6 publicly reported quality domains (1) HCAHPS and CAHPS patient experience surveys, (2) readmission rates and deaths, (3) timely and efficient care, (4) complications, (5) use of medical imaging, and (6) payment and value of care for individual healthcare organizations through a quality rating system (CMS, n.d.). The rating system provides consumers with quality-of-care measures and data to help consumers make an informed decision about physicians, health plan coverage, and the overall healthcare organizations.

The advantages of reviewing the hospital compare website include an overall view of the healthcare organizations rating with CMS and the use of the star system to rate the organization and the patient's perception of the healthcare organization. The disadvantage of reviewing the hospital compare website includes the in-depth data related to medical imaging and death. The inclusion of multiple quality domains into the overall star rating does not benefit the patient (Hu et al., 2017). Another disadvantage includes the inability to confirm if a patient decided to see a physician based on the hospital compare website. Consumers may choose a healthcare organization or physician based on recommendations from other physicians, family, or friends, making it impossible to determine if consumers use the hospital compare site (Blake & Clarke, 2019). The data used to score and rate healthcare organizations and clinicians may not entirely reflect the patient's perception of care and improved patient satisfaction.

Member Checking

Member checking entails a follow-up interview with participants to ensure the interpretation of the interview responses is correct. Participants confirm the validity of the interview during member checking (Caretta & Pérez, 2019). Through member checking, participants review and identify any gaps or inconsistencies in the data (Yang et al., 2018). Member checking provides further opportunities to build accountable, trustworthy relationships with the participants and obtain more insight from leaders that might enhance the research (Caretta, 2016; Harvey, 2015; Iivari, 2018). Through member checking, the interview participants play an active role in the study and establishing trustworthy relationships will help ensure that the interpretations are accurate. I conducted virtual follow-up interviews with each participant to ensure the prompt completion of member checking (see Appendix).

Data Organization Technique

I began drafting my interpretations in a Microsoft Word document, which I saved and imported into NVivo and a flash drive for backup. I discussed my interpretations of the interview responses with the participants for member checking. Upon the healthcare leaders' approval of my elucidations, I progressed to data coding and NVivo. NVivo will allow me to manage the collected data. NVivo is a qualitative software program used to facilitate and simplify data analysis (Røddesnes et al., 2019). I saved and scanned all physical documents as Adobe Acrobat files for importing into NVivo. To ensure the data accuracy and confidentiality, I created coded folders for each interviewee to protect each participant's confidentiality. I scanned the consent form into each participant's folder. I

interpreted the interview using Microsoft Word, then added the interpretations to each participant's coded folder. I kept track of raw data by cataloging and labeling the data by participants. I documented my understanding of the interviews and saved the audio recordings to the participant's folder. I used a reflective journal for recording my notes of the interview to reference any physical observations in the interview with each participant. The reflective journal will reflect the interview details, handwritten with the date, time, location of the interview, and the participant's number identifier to safeguard each participant's identity.

I transferred and securely stored all hard copies of the documents collected on a password-protected flash drive. I secured the flash drive in my personal safe for a minimum of 5 years from the interview date to protect the identities of the participants and the healthcare organization. After 5 years, I will destroy all documents and materials associated with the study as per the Walden University IRB requirements.

Data Analysis

I used methodological triangulation by conducting multiple interviews and reviewing additional documentation and data to align with the data analysis process. The use of triangulation in case studies ensures the reliability of the study and increases understanding of the phenomenon (Farmer et al., 2006). The four types of triangulations are: (a) methodological triangulation, (b) investigator triangulation, (c) theory triangulation, and (d) data triangulation (Bruning et al., 2018). Methodological triangulation includes using multiple types of collected data, including interviews and review of archived documents (Bruning et al., 2018). I used three data sources to ensure

data saturation, virtual interviews, archival document review, and the CMS hospital compare website. I followed Yin's (2018) five-step process for data analysis. The five steps are: (a) compiling the data related to the research question, (b) disassembling the data to determine data techniques, (c) reassembling or organizing the data, (d) interpreting the data, and (e) concluding the data.

Yin's Five-Step Data Analysis

Compiling

The compiling phase includes reviewing the field notes, recordings, and other data sources (Yin, 2018). The first step of the five-step process was collecting and compiling data from the semistructured interviews and documentation review, reflecting the patient satisfaction data from the most recent 5 years (2017-2021) provided by the healthcare leaders. I reviewed the documents provided older than 5 years, as the documents provided additional historical data. I analyzed the interview data obtained from the semistructured interviews, and I looked for repetitious terms and keywords, universal themes, and unfamiliar vocabulary. I broke down the data collected into specific details to determine how the data may answer the original research question. With the collection of detailed data, I began to organize the data into relevant elements to the study and started interpreting the collected data into the research. I referred to the literature review to correlate the emergent themes with the conceptual framework.

Disassembling

The disassembling phase may result in the reduction of data (Yin, 2018). During this phase, I looked for patterns of common themes while analyzing the audio recordings

of the interviews and the journal notes collected during the interviews. I coded the words into categories seeking emerging theme identification.

NVivo allowed me to find patterns in the data collected upon completion of inputting the data into the program to conduct the coding process. The emerging themes identified during the disassembling phase provided meaning and value to the case study. After coding, I analyzed the data and included any additional codes and themes to the current list of articles.

Reassembling

During the reassembling step, I reassembled the data and categorized the data into a broader theme. I grouped the data to identify any conflicts or similarities in the data to find emerging themes. When making decisions during this step, comparisons should continue with other patterns or themes (Yin, 2018). Utilizing NVivo to arrange and sort data aided with organizing the data into specific themes.

Interpreting

After reassembling the data to find any related patterns and themes, I completed data interpretation. I interpreted the data using the central research question. Interpreting data includes complete, accurate, fair, and credible research (Yin, 2018). Interpreting data should be broad regarding terms of the relationships and global findings in the data (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). I interpreted the data while keeping my focus on the themes of the study.

Concluding

The last step of Yin's five-step data analysis, concluding, entails presenting the study results. The interpreted data becomes the findings of the study (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). The conclusion of a study provides suggestions for future research (Yin, 2018). I concluded the investigation by confirming my findings while eliminating bias, achieving data saturation, and accurately reporting the research study.

The software that I used for identifying emerging themes includes cross-referencing the data using NVivo. I created a matrix for each interview and use + and – to scale the statements by the respondents into distinct categories to gain an insight into the participant's role, views, and expectations of patient satisfaction. I focused on the key themes by interpreting, reviewing, and coding all the interviews using NVivo to identify the themes related to the research question.

I used the NVivo software program to aid with data collection. NVivo aided with identifying key themes from my transcribed data. NVivo is consistent with a complex and in-depth analysis of data (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). The NVivo software allows the researchers to identify themes of codes (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). I used NVivo to ensure the accuracy and efficiency of the data collected. I focused on an iterative process of reflecting on my thoughts about the themes, data, and information in the literature review.

I compared the themes from the study to the literature and the theory of caring.

Upon comparing the themes, I then classified and coded the themes into categories that aligned with my research question. The key themes found and correlation to literature

helped me to better understand the successful strategies used to improve patient satisfaction in healthcare.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability and validity ensure that the researcher conducts verification of all study perspectives with rigor to reduce any subjectivity to the research. In qualitative research, the rigor of research is a necessary component to reach the reliability and validity of the study (Cypress, 2017). Reliability and validity imply trustworthiness in the study. Four concepts help the researcher to reach reliability and validity to ensure the rigor and trustworthiness of the research. The concepts include transferability, dependability, credibility, and confirmability. To accomplish the reliability and validity of this study, I conducted member checking and methodological triangulation.

Reliability

Reliability and validity ensure that the researcher conducts verification of all study perspectives with rigor to reduce any subjectivity to the research. In qualitative research, the rigor of research is a necessary component to reach the reliability and validity of the study (Cypress, 2017). Reliability and validity imply trustworthiness in the study. Four concepts help the researcher to reach reliability and validity to ensure the rigor and trustworthiness of the research. The concepts include transferability, dependability, credibility, and confirmability. To accomplish the reliability and validity of this study, I conducted member checking and methodological triangulation.

Validity

I employed methodical triangulation to ensure the validity of the research using the interview and reviewing the healthcare system reports related to patient satisfaction. Validity in qualitative research depends on the purpose of the study and the methods used to address the threats to the validity of the study (FitzPatrick, 2019). The viewpoint of validity has some classifications, such as authenticity, trustworthiness, and quality assessment; establishing trust is the ultimate interpretation (FitzPatrick, 2019). Through the open dialogue with the healthcare leaders, the documents shared reflected authenticity and quality through the processes used to improve patient satisfaction.

I provided a rich, thick description of the data collected, including the interviews and archived documents, to enhance the transferability of this study. Transferability in research allows other researchers to determine if the findings of a study are valid or beneficial to the new research (Connelly, 2016). The researcher is responsible for providing detailed data of the research process to contribute to future research by other researchers who can transfer the results to their setting to ensure transferability (Korstjen & Moser, 2018). Through interviews, archived documents, and review of the hospital compare database, other researchers may find the data helpful in establishing processes to improve patient satisfaction in other healthcare organizations.

To ensure the confirmability of the study, I kept detailed notes, a reflective journal, and audio transcription of the interviews conducted documenting the research journey. Confirmability is the record-keeping of all data sources, sampling, and implementation of procedures (El Hussein et al., 2016). To reach confirmability in

research, other researchers' interpretation of the data confirms the data as accurate, verifiable data, and not as false or exaggerated (Korstjen & Moser, 2018). In a qualitative research study, researchers use confirmability to prove the researcher's unbiased perspective but that of the study participants (Korstjen & Moser, 2018). Through the recordings, reflective notes, and the reflective journal, I documented the details of the participants conversation and expressions making note of any positive or negative tones or responses.

As the researcher, I collected data until no new themes or data emerged. Data saturation in research confirms the thoroughness of the data collected (Carnevale, 2016). Data saturation occurs when all aspects of the research phenomena reach the maximum level of data collection, and any additional data will not contribute to the research (Carnevale, 2016). To support data saturation of my findings, I collected and analyzed data through interviews and member checking, followed by a review of documents.

Transition and Summary

In Section 2, I discussed my role as the researcher, I selected participants who successfully implemented patient satisfaction strategies and established relationships with them, I eliminated personal bias by using an interview protocol to ensure each participant received equal treatment before, during, and after the interview. I used methodological triangulation by conducting multiple interviews and my data collection instruments included reviewing archival documents and the hospital compare database while using Yin's (2018) five-step process to align with the data analysis process. I described and discussed the qualitative research method and designs and the methods that I selected for

the study. I discussed the application and meaning of ethical research. Lastly to ensure the trustworthiness of my study, I examined the reliability and validity of the qualitative research using member checking and methodological triangulation.

In Section 3, I include a detailed description of the presentation of the findings, application to professional practice, and social change. The implication for social change includes investigating healthcare leaders' practices to improve patient satisfaction in healthcare. Healthcare leaders can use the findings from this study to improve patient satisfaction and the financial performance of healthcare organizations. The results of this single case study may create an awareness of the need to establish effective strategies to improve patient satisfaction in all healthcare organizations. I close Section 3 with my recommendations for action for further research and my reflections of the study.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

This qualitative single case study involved exploring strategies healthcare leaders used to improve patient satisfaction. I conducted semistructured interviews with five healthcare leaders who successfully improved patient satisfaction within an organization in metropolitan Detroit, MI. Qualitative data analysis included interview transcripts and member checking. Upon checking primary sources, I reviewed secondary data sources, including patient satisfaction scores, policies, procedures, and accountability tools. I also reviewed the CMS hospital compare website to explore real-time patient perceptions of the healthcare organization.

In this section, I present findings of this study which include four major themes that indicated strategies healthcare leaders use to improve patient satisfaction. The four themes were (a) caring for patients through communication, (b) patient-centered care, (c) compliance through CMS patient satisfaction processes, and (d) leadership. I also considered applications to professional practice and the impact that patient satisfaction has on social change. I discuss my recommendations for further research, reflect on the doctoral study process, and conclude the study.

Presentation of the Findings

This section includes information regarding emerging themes from interviews. To conduct interviews, I used an interview protocol to explore the overarching research question: What strategies do healthcare leaders use to improve patient satisfaction? The population consisted of five healthcare leaders who have improved patient satisfaction

within their organization through training and education. The healthcare organization is in metropolitan Detroit, MI, and currently employs over 30,000 employees. To ensure the privacy of participants, I assigned each participant with an alphanumeric code (P1, P2, P3, P4, and P5) for identification. Mayeroff's theory of caring was the conceptual framework for this study. After analyzing collected data through interviews, I identified four themes: (a) caring for patients through communication, (b) patient-centered care, (c) compliance through CMS patient satisfaction processes, and (d) leadership. I discuss each theme in the following subsections.

Theme 1: Caring for Patients Through Communication

Establishing communication plans for staff and physicians to adhere to when caring for patients helps achieve patient confidence in the care team and organization. When communication with patients is purposeful, their anxiety levels tend to decline, improving their health and symptoms (P. Leonard, 2017). Providing patients with time frames in terms of when physicians are in the room, delays in care, or next steps helps improve communication between physicians and patients. To improve patient satisfaction, healthcare leaders implement workflows to enhance communication for patients from the time they enter the facility to when they leave. In some cases, clinician's follow-up with patients to ensure comprehension of any prescribed medication or the next steps for their next office visit.

Effectively communicating with patients plays a crucial role in ensuring that they feel satisfied and willing to follow their care requirements. Healthcare leaders implement training courses for employees and physicians to ensure that patients always receive

effective communication. Healthcare workers may improve patient satisfaction through effective communication, as it is related to the patients' perception of the care received.

All participants mentioned the implementation of training courses that outline communication with patients. Each participant provided examples of how effectively communicating with patients about wait times, care, balances, and overall outcomes improved their perception of their care and the healthcare organization. P1 said, "patients will tell us if they had a positive experience or a negative experience or an experience in the middle." When asked about patient experiences and outcomes since implementing training, P1 said, "constantly reminding them and educating them and really keeping it in the forefront." P2 said, "there are some things that we can do that will impact that entire experience." P2 also said, "once you break it down that simple, your staff realize, I'm talking to this patient at this moment, and I'm going to own it." P3 shared, "we meet all of the new employees every time they come in, and we're able to share the expectations of courtesy and respect and communication." P4 explained, "It's really about the reconnection and the trust that we have now with these patients that we see over and over again. Or patients that call us and know that they are going to get the assistance and the care that they need when they call our team." P5 explained, "We start the conversation once we validate and check the patient in, we will just start having a conversation with the patient, just being transparent with the patient. We always explain our why, what we are doing." Care provided to individual patients includes communication (Newnham et al., 2017). Participants spoke positively about communicating with every patient, what is

happening, why it is happening, and listening to patients concerns improves their outlook and perception of the healthcare organization.

Through the review of the participants' archival documents, the processes that the leaders created included, communicating with patients' information related to their appointment at the time of checking in for the appointment, such as delays, changes, or confirmations of upcoming appointments. Leaders are responsible for ensuring that employees provide proper communication to every patient using an observation scorecard. The observation scorecard includes a list of tasks that employees must complete with patients during registration. Another expectation set in the process guidelines that I reviewed in the archival document ensured proper transition of patients from one area of the facility to the next while informing patients of expectations during each step of the office visit. Documents included leadership observations to ensure that employees adequately communicate to patients. Leadership observations help create standardized processes, accountability, and ensures that employees meet expectations of healthcare leaders.

Archival documents shared by P1 included a standard operating procedure that included workflows and expectations for employees. This document included expectations of leaders to ensure that employees adhered to expectations of the standard operating procedure, greeting every patient, communicating any changes or delays, and thanking every patient for visiting. Through the standard operating procedure, leaders created a strong communication structure between the staff and set a clear expectation of the overall goal to improve patient satisfaction.

In reviewing the CMS hospital compare website, patients expressed mixed feelings about communication within the healthcare organization. Some patients felt that communication from the clinical team was sufficient and prompt, while other patients thought that communication was poor and inefficient. Upon review of the CMS hospital compare website, the results, as captured from the patient's perspective reflected that the communication between the employees and the patients were satisfactory to the patient, leaving the patient feeling cared for and appreciated. The best practices, standards for communicating with patients, used within the departments that receive positive patient feedback may prove to be beneficial to other clinics or hospital areas throughout the healthcare organization thereby creating a standard process for communicating and caring for patients.

In 2020, the healthcare organization experienced a decrease in overall patient perceptions of healthcare provider communication. Patients provided feedback regarding providers' communication in terms of their health ability to listen to patients carefully. Patients expressed concerns about timely communication of physicians and clinical teams as well as answering questions and providing feedback and physicians' awareness of patients' medical history and willingness to listen to concerns and overall needs.

Theme 2: Patient-Centered Care

As patient care has shifted to patient-centered care, many healthcare organizations changed their cultures to improve patient satisfaction. Healthcare leaders who implement a patient-centered care culture, create an environment that includes patients in their care decisions by ensuring that clinicians communicate with patients about their care, and

provide through education about care decisions. Healthcare organizations that practice patient-centered care tend to have improved patient outcomes, improved job satisfaction, and increased safety and quality care (Kuipers et al., 2019). Creating an environment where patients are partners with the healthcare team builds an environment of trust and respect.

All participants shared the healthcare organization's goals and the changes the healthcare leaders implemented to focus on patient-centered care. Some participants mentioned that there were new processes implemented within the organization to meet patients' expectations, such as leader rounding in the hospital and clinics to ensure patients feel heard and appreciated, creating a warm and inviting atmosphere by ensuring that the appearance of the hospital and clinics are warm and welcoming to everyone who enters the healthcare organization, and creating committees to ensure standard appearances and practices within the healthcare organization. Healthcare leaders' willingness to make continuous improvements to improve patient satisfaction reflects a culture of caring. P1 stated, "I want to understand what this great thing was that the registration person did and see if we can spread that across other areas so other patients can feel the same experience that the one patient felt." Patient satisfaction should start when the patient enters the parking lot or calls the healthcare organization to schedule an appointment. P2 said, "the patients were able to get the appointment time for the day that they wanted. They didn't spend a lot of time waiting for us to respond if they called us. I want to know; did that impact their satisfaction with our experience? I'm trying to understand just overall how these improvements impact our patient's satisfaction through panel optimization." P3 expressed, "there are multiple strategies that we use to improve satisfaction, and the reason there are multiple strategies is that satisfaction goes across every aspect of our company." P4 shared, "we are working on the workflows across the organization that will impact patient satisfaction, because so often patients are scheduled for appointments many different ways, and there's never a discussion about if the patients are going to be impacted financially." P5 stated, "we have lean daily management where we will have all leaders round on the units, using plan, do, check, act around patient satisfaction." This healthcare organization holds each department accountable for patient satisfaction, starting with leaders who lead by example by setting standards for patient satisfaction.

In the review of the archival documents shared by P5, healthcare leaders created a governance council. The council includes leaders and employees who developed healthcare practice decisions focusing on safe and compassionate care and exceptional patient experiences. The council requires a 1-year commitment and consists of a chairperson, cochair person, and members. The council includes five focus areas: practice excellence, professional development, quality and safety, retention and recognition, and business operations. Council participants are expected to provide input and make decisions, as well as communicate the needs of individual employee teams and outcomes of decisions made by the council to employee teams in order to ensure that goals are achieved.

The governance council advocates for improved patient outcomes and employee engagement through shared decision-making; through the council, members review and

seek opportunities to improve patient care within the healthcare organization through discussions of clinical and administrative experiences affecting patients. Through the governance council, patient experiences are discussed and reviewed to improve outcomes and create an environment of patient-centered care through process improvements and accountability.

In reviewing the CMS hospital compare website, patients' satisfaction with the healthcare organization decreased based on the results of the CGCAHPS and HCAHPS. According to participants, in 2019, the results of the CGCAHPS and HCAHPS reflects patients were more satisfied with physicians' overall quality of communication and care as well as accessing appointments when needed. In 2020, the healthcare organization converted office visits to virtual visits. This added to patients' concerns regarding access to quality care. Many patients expressed discontent with virtual visits or lack of access to the Internet. Patients' inability to see physicians led to frustrations and negative feedback regarding lack of communication.

Theme 3: Compliance through CMS Patient Satisfaction Processes

The CMS makes many recommendations related to patients' type of health services, insurance payments and reimbursements for services rendered, and improving patient satisfaction. Through CMS recommendations, healthcare organizations must meet quality standards. Patient perception and feedback help determine ratings and reimbursement rates of healthcare organizations involving safety and quality of the healthcare organization and care received. The CMS uses multiple measures to rate hospitals and reviews them monthly as well as annually. Data collected by the CMS is

provided to patients to assist in making sound decisions about quality and safety of healthcare providers delivering care.

Through the HCAHPS and CGCAHPS, patients can provide feedback regarding care received while in the hospital or visiting a clinic for office visits. Patients can further offer feedback on care received and individual providers and physicians within healthcare organizations through the CMS hospital compare website. The CMS launched the Hospital Compare website to inform patients about healthcare organizations and physicians through feedback and reviews to empower them to make conscious decisions about patient care while encouraging competition between U.S. hospitals (Dor et al., 2015). The CMS rates healthcare organizations using a star rating system that involves patient satisfaction. Star ratings vary from one to five stars, with five stars being the best. The CMS created this rating system to provide patients with guides to hospital quality (Papageorge et al., 2020). Patient feedback is shared via the CMS hospital compare website to provide consumers with personal reviews from current patients. Through these websites and assessments, healthcare organizations can increase sustainability through patient recommendations and perceptions.

Participants in this study reflected upon CMS patient satisfaction processes and how their healthcare organization implemented strategies to improve patient satisfaction. Improved patient satisfaction within healthcare organizations positively impacts patients' health outcomes and increases the likelihood of patients recommending them (Simsekler et al., 2021). When asked, the participants spoke about the HCAHPS and the CGCAHPS and how each team reviews the patient experience, P1 said, "We keep it out there right in

the middle of everyone so that they can see how we're doing and be very transparent." P2 said, "there are some things that we can do that will impact that entire experience." P2 said, "patients will forgive the small details of the visit when provided with an experience focused on the individual patients." P3 shared, "likelihood to recommend is a target that we monitor; it's a metric that we utilize. CMS also monitors likelihood to recommend." P3 said healthcare leaders use audit tools such as leadership rounding to ensure that teams follow initiatives and ensure accountability for everyone. P4 shared, "I think that when you don't measure quality in a way that has a direct impact on both patients and colleagues in this instance, you leave a lot of opportunity on the table." P5 stated, "coming from the HCAHPS scores; it is kind of important to see where we can grow. You can see we have these metrics and targets, and we can see how we align with our competitors, and we can see how we rank nationally." Participants expressed the importance of the HCAHPS and CGCAHPS, reviewing patient comments, and sharing data with their teams to ensure everyone is involved with the patient experience. Engagement with teams influences improved patient outcomes and perceptions (Bombard et al., 2018). Through engaged teams, leaders can reflect on improvements and meeting CMS patient satisfaction processes.

In reviewing the CMS Hospital Compare website, the overall satisfaction of the healthcare organization in which the healthcare leaders interviewed are employed received an overall Medicare and patient rating of 3 out of 5 stars. The performance across multiple areas of quality, including timely and effective care, complications and death, unplanned hospital visits, psychiatric unit services, and payment and value of care

are key indicators used to determine Medicare ratings. The patient rating measures the patients' experience during a visit to a healthcare organization (Medicare.gov, n.d.). The ratings help patients make conscious decisions about their care on healthcare organizations and the clinicians employed within the healthcare organization.

In reviewing archival documents, P1 shared a department Service Level

Agreement (SLA). The SLA includes the scope of service, including delivering quality
customer service through greetings and structured interactions with patients, setting
expectations of wait times for care, professional appearance of employees, and clinical
cleanliness. The SLA provides details of the expectations of the employees and leaders to
ensure that every patient receives a quality experience when arriving at the healthcare
organization. An SLA is an accountability tool, created with the outcome in mind. The
SLA outlines the intended goals and the methods used to reach the goals (Jahani et al.,
2021). Establishing expectations and protocols to guide patient satisfaction improvement
may be a useful tool for healthcare leaders creating strategies to improve patient
satisfaction.

Theme 4: Leadership

Healthcare leaders play an integral role in ensuring that patient's perception of the healthcare organization, the employees, and the physicians is a continuous positive experience and patient-centered at every visit. These leaders adapt to an ever-changing environment with high expectations of quality, safety, high-performing teams, and patient satisfaction. Through those changes, healthcare leaders must effect change amongst the team to implement new processes. Patient satisfaction will vary from one patient to

another; however, there are key processes that leaders can implement that will improve the patient experience and engage the team. Leaders who are transparent and build trust with their teams and provide an open line of communication with the teams have a greater opportunity to affect change within the healthcare organizations. Leading by example and communicating with employees the changes needed to impact patient satisfaction can ensure that every patient receives personable care. The relationships built between the leader and the team help promote and enrich patient experiences (Wanser & Luckel, 2021). Leaders who support their teams by communicating and including employees in creating processes and providing input on change initiatives have a significant opportunity to improve patient satisfaction while engaging the team for innovative ideas that may create future healthcare leaders.

When asked about leadership, the participants offered their input on how leadership within the healthcare organization implements processes and supports their teams. P1 shared, "when implementing a new patient satisfaction initiative, regardless of what role you held in our department, we all participated. I think that was immensely powerful when it came to our team. We were not holding one person to this expectation." P2 described how they process and support their leadership team:

I'm working with their leaders, and I'm helping them plan a way to make them feel empowered. I'm meeting with my leaders, and we're having this great way of picking apart the experience, talking about their roles and how they are changing to this new experience strategy, and having them focus on each team member.

P3 shared, "Leader rounding is very evidence-based. No matter what role you hold, the expectation is that you too will be rounding on patients. So, every leader expects to round on patients and provide feedback." P4 reflected on why the team supports patient satisfaction and the rewards the teams receive. P4 shared:

They do it for the reward, the emotional reward really because when they can connect those patients, it is just unbelievable. I hear the stories, and I feel so proud. It really is heart work. It is heart work, and it's rewarding.

P5 shared, how the executive leadership team provides input and engages the team to improve patient satisfaction:

I think transparency and knowing our why and just sticking to that. We have a bigger goal, which we call "True North" and it's all based around customer service or care experience. Having a leadership team that values its team members and evokes creative input and ideas of team members creates a healthcare organization that focuses on the entire patient and empowers them to do what is best for the patient.

Each participant expressed different ways the leadership teams receive support and the processes implemented; however, each participant expressed the importance of communicating and the value for one another and the patients. Healthcare leaders recognize that patient satisfaction is the foundation of healthcare leadership (Wolf, 2017). Improving patient satisfaction stands as a call to action for healthcare leaders to determine best practices for ensuring patient satisfaction at every visit. Through these interviews, healthcare leaders expressed the importance of including the team in

decisions of change and implementation, being transparent, and providing an open line of communication to enrich the patient experience. Through their leadership, each leader provided insight into how patients reacted to the improvements made to meet and exceed the patient's expectations.

Through the review of archival documents shared by the leaders, improving patients' perception of the healthcare organization reflects leadership teams that considered patient's input and improved patient satisfaction consistently through surveys, meetings, discussions, and patient panel discussions. The measurement of patient experiences is an effective tool for implementing quality service and improving strategic goals for every healthcare organization (Al-Abri & Al-Balushi, 2014). The healthcare leaders use various measures to create an environment focused on improving patient satisfaction; through those measures and data collection, employees are accountable for meeting the goals established by healthcare leaders.

To align with the leadership, in reviewing the archival documents from P1 and P5, the leaders share supporting data with the teams to reflect the progress of patient satisfaction and improvements. When leaders can review and educate clinicians using metrics and key performance indicators to make or improve healthcare decisions, and then train and educate all healthcare employees about the aspects of respectful and dignified care, fundamental and patient-centered care occurs (Feo & Kitson, 2016). Through the data and reporting metrics, the leaders can show the teams how creating strong processes, such as communicating and focusing on patient-centered care, can improve the patient's perception of the healthcare organization.

In reviewing the hospital compare database, there is certainly room for improvement from the patient's perception; the healthcare organization reflects an average rating scale of 1-5. Patient satisfaction ratings are indicators on a global level of physicians and healthcare organizations' quality, efficacy, and feasibility of patient care and services (Boquiren et al., 2015). The healthcare organization plans to review the results of the patient feedback and the CMS star rating results and implement process improvements beginning with the administrative areas within the healthcare organization then follow up with the clinical areas after that, to not overwhelm the clinical teams while managing through the Covid-19 pandemic. Improvements include fast and efficient appointment scheduling, communication about updates, changes, and follow-up. Through the improvements discussed with the healthcare leaders, these improvements will provide patients with a sense of care and concern from the healthcare organization, improving patient satisfaction within the healthcare organization.

Applications to Professional Practice

The results of this study may prove valuable to healthcare leaders. Healthcare leaders may find the strategies referenced in this study helpful within a healthcare organization. Improving patient satisfaction is a continuous goal of healthcare organizations around the world. The findings of this study include four themes: (a) caring for patients through communication, (b) patient-centered care, (c) compliance through CMS patient satisfaction processes and, (d) leadership.

This study provides healthcare leaders with the strategies used to improve patient satisfaction within one healthcare organization. Through these strategies, healthcare

leaders can seek opportunities to improve the quality of care and perception that patients receive by implementing a patient-centered care culture. Healthcare leaders that seek to enact excellence make patient perception a priority (Al-Abri & Al-Balushi, 2014). Educating employees and physicians with the proper training and tools to provide every patient with a level of care that exceeds the patient's expectations. The education begins with workflows, policies and processes, shadowing, patient rounding, and accountability measures.

The target audience for this study included healthcare leaders who are responsible for improving patient satisfaction. The results of this study may contribute to key research related to patient satisfaction. The role of the healthcare leaders is crucial in establishing quality patient satisfaction, measures should be created to ensure improved patient satisfaction within the healthcare organization (Asif et al., 2019b). The challenges the guidelines of the PPACA enforced related to patient satisfaction, reimbursements, and improved delivery models, encouraged leaders to implement strategies to improve patient satisfaction and balance cost (Pascual, 2021). When leaders implement and empower employees, the strategies implemented imply patient-centered care and patient inclusion in the healthcare experience (Pascual, 2021). Healthcare leaders can apply the strategies identified in this study to existing research conducted by healthcare leaders who seek improvements to patient satisfaction and inclusion of patients in the visit while positively impacting the community.

Implications for Social Change

The findings within this study may have positive implications for one broadly related area of social change. The area of change includes transforming care experiences in patient care and well-being through communication and education, thereby improving patient satisfaction. Through communication and education within the healthcare organization, patients within the community may see improved health outcomes.

Patient engagement within the community plays a critical factor in social change for healthcare organizations. Through communication and education, healthcare leaders should seek opportunities to provide the community with resources through donations, classes, activities, and testing sites. These resources can enhance patient care, quality of care, and the perception of care within the healthcare organization. Shifting the focus of care to the patient's overall well-being improves the outcomes for quality patient care.

Healthcare leaders can use the results of this study to positively impact the patient's perception of care within the healthcare organization through implementing processes that enhance patient care. A leader's ability to influence change and motivate others to achieve a higher level of achievement is extensive in a thriving workplace with the transformational leadership style (Schwartz et al., 2011). Healthcare leaders are increasingly seeking opportunities to improve patient care, patient satisfaction, and the financial outcome of the healthcare organization to maintain sustainability (Jacko et al., 2021). With improved patient satisfaction through communication and education, healthcare organizations may improve revenue through value-based care, all while

applying strategies to improve overall patient care and the well-being of patients within the community.

Recommendations for Action

The recommendations for the actions described in this section are for consideration of healthcare leaders seeking to improve patient satisfaction. Healthcare leaders may distribute these actions through professional associations and forums for healthcare leaders. The study findings included four themes: (a) caring for patients through communication, (b) patient-centered care, (c) compliance through CMS patient satisfaction processes and, (d) leadership.

The first recommendation for practice is to care for patients through communication. Healthcare leaders should create an environment built on communication amongst staff and employees and patients and their family members, ensuring that everyone involved in patient care understands the expectations of the patient's outcome. Creating an accountability tool helps ensure that the staff and employees can follow each communication process step. Providing training to staff and employees centered around the individual patient stimulates patient-centered care and patient satisfaction (Fatima et al., 2018). Empowering staff and employees with education and goals, enriches the organization's culture, thereby improving the patient experience and patient satisfaction.

The second recommendation is patient-centered care. This theme includes implementing training to understand the needs of patients. Healthcare leaders should educate and provide staff and employees with the tools needed to create a patient-centered care model within the healthcare organization. Patient-centered care requires a

culture shift from the regular idea of patient care to patients in partnerships with their care (Alabdaly et al., 2021). Healthcare leaders should develop best practices for ensuring that patients are included in health decisions and understand those decisions. Leaders should establish workflows and processes that ensure that employees and physicians have an open dialogue with patients by explaining expectations and time frames. These processes should include accountability measures and goals to meet organizational and patient needs. Patient satisfaction ratings are global indicators of physicians' and healthcare organizations' quality and efficacy of patient care and services (Boquiren et al., 2015). This shift in the culture towards a patient-centered care model can provide patients and their families with reassurance that they are cared for and heard as a patient.

The third recommendation, compliance through CMS patient satisfaction processes; through the guidance of CMS payments for care received include patient care and the patient experience, insurance payers initiate and approve these payments.

Through the HCAHPS and CGCAHPS surveys, patients can rate their care based on the experiences, respect, and care within a healthcare organization. Through these surveys, healthcare leaders should initiate a culture shift within the healthcare organization to improve patient satisfaction and perception. In addition to the HCAHPS and CGCAHPS, CMS uses hospital quality measures to determine and adjust hospital payments using the VBP. The VBP promotes improved clinical outcomes and patient experiences while improving care and reducing costs (CMS, n.d.). Patient-centered care has become the foundation for healthcare organizations to keep viability in an ever-changing world.

The fourth recommendation is leadership; Healthcare leaders should be part of the overall goal to improve patient satisfaction through patient visits and hospital or clinic rounding to ensure that the patient feels cared for and acknowledged. The top-down approach offers patients the ability to voice their concerns to leaders in real-time and address any problems at the time of the visit. Support from top leaders (e.g., chief executive officers) for implementation of change initiatives play a key role in overcoming objection or protest to organization goals (Birken et al., 2015). Healthcare leaders should include employees and physicians in patient feedback. Sharing the feedback and reviews from the patient perspective, both the good and the bad, with the staff and employees, creates an environment of compassion and care from the patient's perspective. Sharing feedback will allow the teams to learn from their mistakes or the mistakes of others while improving patient satisfaction. Engagement with patients further creates a patientcentered culture that employees and physicians can reflect on. Making improvements for the entire healthcare organization will require input from everyone, including physicians. Higher patient satisfaction because of the physicians' behavior results in better health outcomes for patients (Simsekler et al., 2021), and the overall outcome for the healthcare organization. Through employee and staff buy-in, shifting the focus to patient experience to enhance each patient's care experience and improve patient satisfaction within the organization may affect the patient's perception of care.

Recommendations for Further Research

This qualitative single case study aimed to explore the strategies that healthcare leaders used to improve patient satisfaction. This study had three limitations. The first

limitation of the research was the potential biases of the healthcare leaders during the interviews based on a limitation of the amount of information the leaders shared. The second limitation was, I conducted the research on a single healthcare organization, limiting the strategies to other healthcare leaders. The third limitation was the focus of the study was specific to the strategies used to improve patient satisfaction, duplication and testing of the strategies may occur in other demographic and geographical locations with a methodological design.

In conducting the research for this study, I discovered three recommendations for more research. The first recommendation was due to the limitation of using one healthcare organization to conduct the research; other healthcare leaders within a similar size and demographic healthcare organization may have other strategies that prove successful. The second recommendation is the sample size of this study; I interviewed 5 healthcare leaders for this study; I would recommend a larger sample size to interview other healthcare leader's perspectives and recommendations to improve patient satisfaction. My last and final recommendation is for future researchers to conduct a multi-case study to compare strategies and best practices while developing a multi-faceted approach that healthcare leaders use in any healthcare organization.

Reflections

In my reflections of this study, the DBA Doctoral Study process challenged me to my fullest potential. This study was a spiritually guided test that taught me the importance of never giving up; if I fall, I get back up and keep going, and things happen the way they are supposed to happen. When I started this journey, there was limited data

about patient satisfaction. Over the last several years, an abundance of data has surfaced to support this much needed tool in healthcare. Having worked in healthcare for many years, I had the opportunity to see the improvements implemented within my healthcare organization and how the patient-focused improvements affected patient's health outcomes while improving employee engagement and the financial outcome of the healthcare organization.

Patient care is vital in every healthcare organization; it is our primary purpose for being in healthcare. Through this study, I learned that patients interpret their care from when the patient enters the healthcare facility to when the patient leaves the healthcare facility. Further, the patient's interpretation of the healthcare organization may substantially affect the patient's care and the entire healthcare organization. My bias has shifted from focusing only on the clinical aspect of healthcare to the whole healthcare organization. After conducting this study and getting insight from healthcare leaders from different areas of a healthcare organization, I have gained a greater appreciation for the work and the data put into this subject matter; I understand why this research is critical for healthcare.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies that healthcare leaders use to improve patient satisfaction. The single case study design is the study of the complexity of one case and understanding the importance of that case (Harrison et al., 2017). By completing semistructured interviews with healthcare leaders of a single healthcare organization, this study may assist healthcare leaders in improving

patient satisfaction, the quality of care, and the financial outlook of their healthcare organization. Building a patient-centered care environment is the primary focus of quality improvements to reduce patient errors and provide adequate care (Kadom & Nagy, 2014). Through the interviews and review of the archival documents that the healthcare leaders shared, the leaders expressed emphases on the importance of improving patient satisfaction and the strategies used to ensure that every patient receives quality service and care. In reviewing the CMS hospital compare database, there is still room for improvement to meet and exceed patient expectation, it appears through continued process improvements, the healthcare leaders will achieve quality patient satisfaction improvements.

I recorded the interviews, coded the interviews, analyzed the data retrieved from coding, archival documents, and the CMS hospital compare website to determine the common themes. Four themes emerged from the analysis: (a) caring for patients through communication, (b) patient-centered care, (c) compliance through CMS patient satisfaction processes and, (d) leadership. The findings suggested that communication, empathy, education, training, and implied leadership are effective measures to improve patient satisfaction. Healthcare leaders can review and implement these processes to improve patient satisfaction outcomes within their healthcare organization. Through patient education, engaged leaders, physicians, and staff, healthcare leaders can invoke social change in the surrounding communities, improving outcomes for patients, the community, and the entire healthcare organization.

The findings of this study were relevant to healthcare business practices in identifying possible measures and strategies for improving patient satisfaction. With the everchanging healthcare regulations, I recommend continuous research for best practices to improve patient satisfaction. The recommended strategies may aid healthcare leaders with improving patient satisfaction within their healthcare organization; improving patient satisfaction may improve patient health outcomes and increase profits for the healthcare organization.

References

- Adhikary, G., Shawon, M. S. R., Ali, M. W., Shamsuzzaman, M., Ahmed, S.,
 Shackelford, K. A., Woldeab, A., Alam, N., Lim, S. S., Levine, A., Gakidou, E.,
 & Uddin, J. (2018). Factors influencing patients' satisfaction at different levels of health facilities in Bangladesh: Results from patient exit interviews. *PLOS One*,
 13(5). e0196643. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0196643
- Afaya, A., Hamza, S., Gross, J., Acquah, N. A., Aseku, P. A., & Doeyela, D. (2017).

 Assessing patient's perception of nursing care in medical-surgical ward in

 Ghana. *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, 10(3), 1329-1340.

 https://www.internationaljournalofcaringsciences.org
- Akingbola, K., & van den Berg, H. A. (2015). Does CEO compensation impact patient satisfaction? *Journal of Health Organization and Management*, 29(1), 111-127. https://doi.org/10.1108/JHOM-02-2013-0034
- Alabdaly, A., Debono, D., Hinchcliff, R., & Hor, S. Y. (2021). Relationship between patient safety culture and patient experience in hospital settings: A scoping review protocol. *BMJ open*, 11(5), e049873. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-049873
- Al-Abri, R., & Al-Balushi, A. (2014). Patient satisfaction survey as a tool towards quality improvement. *Oman Medical Journal*, 29(1), 3-7.

 https://doi.org/10.5001/omj.2014.02
- Ali, N. S., & Dinizio, A. (2018). Beginner's guide to Medicare access and chip reauthorization act's quality payment program. *Current Problems in Diagnostic*

- Radiology, 47(3), 136-139. https://doi.org/10.1067/j.cpradiol.2017.10.001
- Alqatawenah, A. S. (2018). Transformational leadership style and its relationship with change management. *Business: Theory and Practice*, *19*(1), 17-24. https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2018.03
- Anderson, C., Leahy, M. J., DelValle, R., Sherman, S., & Tansey, T. N. (2014).

 Methodological application of multiple case study design using modified consensual qualitative research (CQR) analysis to identify best practices and organizational factors in the public rehabilitation program. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 41(2), 87-98. https://doi.org/10.3233/jvr-140709
- Anderson, J. A., & Wilson, C. (2011). Reimbursement changes under healthcare reform:

 Are you prepared? *Health Care Compliance*, *13*(9), 30-31.

 https://www.polsinelli.com
- Anyan, F. (2013). The influence of power shifts in data collection and analysis stages: A focus on qualitative research interview. *Qualitative Report*, 18(36), 1-9.

 https://tqr.nova.edu
- Arboleda, A. M., Chernichovsky, D., & Esperato, A. (2018). Patient satisfaction surveys in Colombia: Scope for improvement. *Revista Científica Salud Uninorte*, *34*(1), 33-46. https://doi.org/10.14482/sun.34.1.7582
- Arman, M., Ranheim, A., Rydenlund, K., Rytterström, P., & Rehnsfeldt, A. (2015). The Nordic tradition of caring science: The works of three theorists. *Nursing Science Quarterly*, 28(4), 288-296. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894318415599220
- Arnold, D. R. (2017). Countervailing incentives in value-based payment. *Healthcare*,

- 5(3), 125-128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hjdsi.2016.04.009
- Asif, M., Jameel, A., Hussain, A., Hwang, J., & Sahito, N. (2019a). Linking transformational leadership with nurse-assessed adverse patient outcomes and the quality of care: Assessing the role of job satisfaction and structural empowerment.

 International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 16(13), 2381-2395. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16132381
- Asif, M., Jameel, A., Sahito, N., Hwang, J., Hussain, A., & Manzoor, F. (2019b). Can

 Leadership Enhance Patient Satisfaction? Assessing the role of administrative and
 medical quality. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public*Health, 16(17), 3212-3225. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16173212
- Awdish, R. L. (2017). A view from the edge-creating a culture of caring. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 376(1), 7-9. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmp1614078
- Babcock, R. L., MaloneBeach, E. E., & Woodworth-Hou, B. (2016). Intergenerational intervention to mitigate children's bias against the elderly. *Journal of Intergenerational Relationships*, *14*(4), 274-287.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15350770.2016.1229542
- Bagnall, L. A., Taliaferro, D., & Underdahl, L. (2018). Nursing students, caring attributes, and opportunities for educators. *International Journal for Human Caring*, 22(3), 126-135. https://doi.org/10.20467/1091-5710.22.3.126
- Bailey, D. N. (2009). Caring defined: A comparison and analysis. *International Journal of Human Caring*, 13(1), 16-31. https://doi.org/10.20467/1091-5710.13.1.16
- Balasubramanian, B., Cohen, D. J., Davis, M. M., Gunn, R., Dickinson, L. M., Miller, W.

L., Crabtree, B. F., & Stange, K. C. (2015). Learning evaluation: Blending quality improvement and implementation research methods to study healthcare innovations. *Implementation Science*, *10*(31), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-015-0219-z

- Barkhordari-Sharifabad, M., Ashktorab, T., & Atashzadeh-Shoorideh, F. (2017).

 Obstacles and problems of ethical leadership from the perspective of nursing leaders: A qualitative content analysis. *Journal of Medical Ethics and History of Medicine*, 10(8), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733016687157
- Barnham, C. (2015). Quantitative and qualitative research: Perceptual foundations. *International Journal of Market Research*, *57*(6), 837-854.

 https://doi.org/10.2501/IJMR-2015-070
- Batbaatar, E., Dorjdagva, J., Luvsannyam, A., Savino, M. M., & Amenta, P. (2017).

 Determinants of patient satisfaction: A systematic review. *Perspectives in Public Health*, *137*(2), 89-101. https://doi.org/10.1177/1757913916634136
- Birken, S. A., Lee, S.-Y. D., Weiner, B. J., Chin, M. H., Chiu, M., & Schaefer, C. T. (2015). From strategy to action: How top managers' support increases middle managers' commitment to innovation implementation in health care organizations. *Health Care Management Review*, 40(2), 159-168. https://doi.org/10.1097/HMR.0000000000000018
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802-1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870

- Blake, R. S., & Clarke, H. D. (2019). Hospital compare and hospital choice: Public reporting and hospital choice by hip replacement patients in Texas. *Medical Care Research and Review*, 76(2), 184-207. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077558717699311
- Bokhour, B. G., Fix, G. M., Mueller, N. M., Barker, A. M., Lavela, S. L., Hill, J. N., Solomon, J. L., & Lukas, C. V. (2018). How can healthcare organizations implement patient-centered care? Examining a large-scale cultural transformation.

 BMC Health Services Research, 18(168), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-2949-5
- Bombard, Y., Baker, G. R., Orlando, E., Fancott, C., Bhatia, P., Casalino, S., Onate, K., Denis, J. L., & Pomey, M. P. (2018). Engaging patients to improve quality of care: A systematic review. *Implementation Science*, *13*(98), 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-018-0784-z
- Bonfrer, I., Figueroa, J. F., Zheng, J., Orav, E. J., & Jha, A. K. (2018). Impact of Financial Incentives on Early and Late Adopters among US Hospitals: observational study. *BMJ-British Medical Journal*, *360*(8135), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.j5622
- Boquiren, V. M., Hack, T. F., Beaver, K., & Williamson, S. (2015). What do measures of patient satisfaction with the doctor tell us? *Patient Education and Counseling*, 98(12), 1465-1473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2015.05.020
- Boysen, G. N., Nyström, M., Christensson, L., Herlitz, J., & Sundström, B. W. (2017).

 Trust in the early chain of healthcare: Lifeworld hermeneutics from the patient's

- perspective. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Wellbeing*, 12(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1080/17482631.2017.1356674
- Bronson, D., & Ellison, E. (2021). Crafting successful training programs for physician leaders. *Healthcare*, 9(3), 2-7. https://doi-org./10.1016/j.hjdsi.2015.08.010
- Bruning, C., Godri, L., & Roseli Wünsch Takahashi, A. (2018). Triangulation in case studies: Incidence, appropriations, and misunderstandings in management studies.

 Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa, 19(2), 277-307.

 https://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n2.889
- Bruno, A., Dell'Aversana, G., & Zunino, A. (2017). Customer orientation and leadership in the health service sector: The role of workplace social support. *Frontiers in psychology*, 8(1920), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01920
- Burgener, A. M. (2020). Enhancing Communication to Improve Patient Safety and to Increase Patient Satisfaction. *Health Care Manager*, *39*(3), 128-132. https://doi.org/10.1097/HCM.0000000000000298
- Caretta, M. A. (2016). Member checking: A feminist participatory analysis of the use of preliminary results pamphlets in cross-cultural, cross-language research.

 Qualitative Research, 16(3), 305-318. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794115606495
- Caretta, M. A., & Pérez, M. A. (2019). When participants do not agree: Member checking and challenges to epistemic authority in participatory research. *Field Methods*, *31*(4), 359-374. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X19866578
- Carnevale, F. A. (2016). Authentic qualitative research and the quest for methodological rigour. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research Archive*, *34*(2), 121-128.

https://cjnr.archive.mcgill.ca/article/view/1768

- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *Qualitative Report*, 21(5), 811-831. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss5/2
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 10(6), 807-815. https://doi.org/10.016/j.cptl.2018.03.019
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (n.d.). CMS' program history. Retrieved

 January 13, 2020, from https://www.cms.gov/about-cms/agency-information/history/index.html
- Chen, H. C., Cates, T., Taylor, M., & Cates, C. (2020). Improving the US hospital reimbursement: How patient satisfaction in HCAHPS reflects lower readmission.

 International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance, 33(4/5), 333-334

 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJHCQA-03-2019-0066
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *MEDSURG Nursing*, 25(6), 435-436. www.medsurgnursing.net/
- Copeland, T., & Woo, K. (2018). Cost measurement in the meaningful incentive payment system. *Journal of Vascular Surgery: Venous and Lymphatic Disorders*, 6(4), 551. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvsv.2018.04.002

- Cumyn, A., Ouellet, K., Côté, A. M., Francoeur, C., & St-Onge, C. (2018). Role of researchers in the ethical conduct of research: A discourse analysis from different stakeholder perspectives. *Ethics & Behavior*, 29(8), 621-636. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508422.2018.1539671
- De Boer, D., Delnoij, D., & Rademakers, J. (2013). The importance of patient-centered care for various patient groups. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 90(3), 405-410. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2011.10.002
- Delaney, L. J. (2018). Patient-centered care as an approach to improving health care in Australia. *Collegian*, 25(1), 119-123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2017.02.005
- DeVore, S., & Champion, W. (2011). Driving population health through accountable care organizations. *Health Affairs*, 30(1), 41-51. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2010.0935
- Dor, A., Encinosa, W. E., & Carey, K. (2015). Medicare's hospital compare quality reports appear to have slowed price increases for two major procedures. *Health Affairs*, *34*(1), 71-77. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0263
- Dottino, J. A., He, W., Sun, C. C., Zhao, H., Fu, S., Lu, K. H., & Meyer, L. A. (2019).
 Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services' hospital consumer assessment of healthcare providers and systems (HCAHPS) scores and gynecologic oncology surgical outcomes. *Gynecologic Oncology*, 154(2), 405-410. <a href="https://doi-

org./10.1016/j.ygyno.2019.06.003

- Duan, S., Liu, Z., & Che, H. (2018). Mediating influences of ethical leadership on employee creativity. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, 46(2), 323-337. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.6160
- Dunn, A. G., Coiera, E., Mandl, K. D., & Bourgeois, F. T. (2016). Conflict of interest disclosure in biomedical research: A review of current practices, biases, and the role of public registries in improving transparency. *Research Integrity and Peer Review*, *I*(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41073-016-0006-7
- El Hussein, M. T., Jakubec, S. L., & Osuji, J. (2016). The facts: A mnemonic for the rapid assessment of rigor in qualitative research studies. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 55(1), 60. https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20151214-15
- Ellina, A. D., Nursalam, N., Yunitasari, E., & Rusmawati, A. (2020). Patient satisfaction about nurse caring behavior: Based on Swanson's theory of caring and transcultural nursing theory. *International Journal of Psychosocial Rehabilitation*, 24(9), 737-743. https://doi.org/10.37200/IJPR/V24I9/PR290089
- Emanuel, E. J. (2018). The real cost of the US health care system. *JAMA*, *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 319(10), 983-985.

 https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.1151
- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(4), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.atjas.20160501.11
- Farmer, T., Robinson, K., Elliott, S., & Eyles, J. (2006). Developing and implementing a

- triangulation protocol for qualitative health research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 16(3), 377-394. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732305285708
- Fatima, T., Malik, S. A., & Shabbir, A. (2018). Hospital healthcare service quality, patient satisfaction and loyalty: An investigation in context of private healthcare systems. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, 35(6), 1195-1214. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQRM-02-2017-0031
- Feo, R., & Kitson, A. (2016). Promoting patient-centered fundamental care in acute healthcare systems. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 57, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.01.006
- FitzPatrick, B. (2019). Methodology matters: Validity in qualitative health education research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 11(2), 211-217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.11.014
- Francis, J., & Clancy, C. (2016). Implementing performance pay in health care: Do we know enough to do it well? *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 31(1), 6-7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-015-3574-1
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research.

 The Qualitative Report, 20(9), 1408-1416.

 https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss9/3
- Galdas, P. (2017). Revisiting bias in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1), 1-2. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917748992
- Garson, D. (2017). Ethnographic research. *Harvard Business Review*, 66(1), 45-53. http://www.hbr.org/

- Geraghty, A., & Paterson-Brown, S. (2018). Leadership and working in teams. *Surgery* (*Oxford*), *35*(9), 503-508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mpsur.2018.07.013
- Giddens, J. (2018). Transformational leadership: What every nursing dean should know.

 **Journal of Professional Nursing, 34(2), 117-121.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.profnurs.2017.10.004
- Gilson, L., & Agyepong, I. A. (2018). Strengthening health system leadership for better governance: What does it take? *Journal on Health Policy and Planning*, 33(2), ii1-ii4. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czy052
- Golda, N., Beeson, S., Kohli, N., & Merrill, B. (2018). Analysis of the patient experience measure. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 78(4), 645-651. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2017.03.051
- Grafton, E., Reid, A., & Coyne, E. (2016). Strategies to successfully recruit and engage clinical nurses as participants in qualitative clinical research. *Contemporary Nurse: A Journal for the Australian Nursing Profession*, 52(6), 669-676. https://doi.org/10.1080/10376178.2016.1181979
- Grocott, A., & McSherry, W. (2018). The patient experience: Informing practice through identification of meaningful communication from the patient's perspective. *In*Healthcare, 6(1), 26-39. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare6010026
- Halldorsdottir, S. (1996). Caring and uncaring encounters in nursing and health care:

 Developing a theory [Doctoral dissertation, Linkopings University].

 https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:248040/FULLTEXT01.pdf
- Halldorsdottir, S. (2007). A psychoneuroimmunological view of the healing potential of

- professional caring in the face of human suffering. *International Journal of Human Caring*, 11(2), 32-39. https://doi.org/10.20467/1091-5710.11.2.32
- Harrison, H., Birks, M., Franklin, R., & Mills, J. (2017). Case study research:

 Foundations and methodological orientations. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung*/Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 18(1). https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs
 18.1.2655
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *Journal of Research & Method in Education*, *38*(1), 23-38. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727x.2014.914487
- Healthcare.gov. (n.d.). Patient protection and affordable care act. Retrieved August 22, 2021, from https://www.healthcare.gov/glossary/patient-protection-and-affordable-care-act/
- Heath, J., Williamson, H., Williams, L., & Harcourt, D. (2018). "It's just more personal":

 Using multiple methods of qualitative data collection to facilitate participation in research focusing on sensitive subjects. *Applied Nursing Research*, *43*, 30-35.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnr.2018.06.015
- Hewitt, J., & Pham, J. (2018, January 22-25). Qualitative versus quantitative methods in safety risk management. [Conference session]. 2018 Annual Reliability and Maintainability Symposium (RAMS), Reno, NV, United States.

 https://doi.org/10.1109/RAM.2018.8463052
- Heydon, G., & Powell, A. (2018). Written-response interview protocols: An innovative approach to confidential reporting and victim interviewing in sexual assault

- investigations. *Policing & Society*, 28(6), 631-646. https://doi.org/10.1080/10439463.2016.1187146
- Houghton, J. D., Pearce, C. L., Manz, C. C., Courtright, S., & Stewart, G. L. (2014).
 Sharing is caring: Toward a model of proactive caring through shared leadership.
 Human Resource Management Review, 25(3), 313-327.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2014.12.001
- Hu, J., Jordan, J., Rubinfeld, I., Schreiber, M., Waterman, B., & Nerenz, D. (2017).
 Correlations among hospital quality measures: What "hospital compare" data tell us. *American Journal of Medical Quality*, 32(6), 605-610.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1062860616684012
- Iivari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice: A hermeneutic analysis of informants' interpretation of their organizational realities.
 Information Technology & People, 31(1), 111-133. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-07-2016-0168
- Itri, J. N., Mithqal, A., & Krishnaraj, A. (2017). Funds flow in the era of value-based health care. *Journal of the American College of Radiology*, *14*(6), 818-824. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacr.2017.01.008
- Jacko, J. A., Sainfort, F., Messa, C. A., IV., Page, T. F., & Vieweg, J. (2021). Redesign of US medical schools: A shift from health service to population health management. *Population Health Management*. Advance online publication.
 https://doi.org/10.1089/pop.2021.0097
- Jahani, H., Abbasi, B., Hosseinifard, Z., Fadaki, M., & Minas, J. P. (2021). Disruption

- risk management in service-level agreements. *International Journal of Production Research*, 59(1), 226-244. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2020.1748248
- Jambawo, S. (2018). Transformational leadership and ethical leadership: Their significance in the mental healthcare system. *British Journal of Nursing*, 27(17), 998-1001. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2018.27.17.998
- Jani, A., Jungmann, S., & Gray, M. (2018). Shifting to triple value healthcare:

 Reflections from England. Zeitschrift für Evidenz, Fortbildung und Qualität im

 Gesundheitswesen, 130, 2-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.zefq.2018.01.002
- Johnson, P. V. (2015). Ray's theory of bureaucratic caring: A conceptual framework for APRN primary care providers and the homebound population. *International Journal of Human Caring*, 19(2), 41-48. https://doi.org/10.20467/1091.5710-19.2.41
- Johnston, K. J., Wiemken, T. L., Hockenberry, J. M., Figueroa, J. F., & Joynt Maddox, K. E. (2020). Association of clinician health system affiliation with outpatient performance ratings in the medicare merit-based incentive payment system. *JAMA, The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 324(10), 984. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.13136
- Kadom, N., & Nagy, P. (2014). Patient satisfaction: Opportunities for quality improvement. *Journal of the American College of Radiology*, 11(8), 830-831. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacr.2014.04.017
- Kanters, A. E., & Ellimoottil, C. (2018). Bundled care payment models. *Seminars in Colon and Rectal Surgery*, 29(2), 60-63.

https://doi.org/10.1053/j.scrs.2018.01.004

- Kaye, J., Whitley, E. A., Lund, D., Morrison, M., Teare, H., & Melham, K. (2015).
 Dynamic consent: A patient interface for twenty-first century research networks.
 European Journal of Human Genetics, 23(2), 141-146.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2014.71
- Kelly, M. (2021). How should we develop physician leaders? *Healthcare*, 9(3), 2-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hjdsi.2015.10.004
- Korstjen, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),

 120-124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kuebler, K. (2017). Health policy and clinical practice in the new era of quality. *Journal for Nurse Practitioners*, 13(2), e87-e89.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nurpra.2016.07.029
- Kuipers, S. J., Cramm, J. M., & Nieboer, A. P. (2019). The importance of patient-centered care and co-creation of care for satisfaction with care and physical and social well-being of patients with multi-morbidity in the primary care setting. *BMC Health Serv Res 19*(13), 2-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3818-y
- Kuipers, S. J., Nieboer, A. P., & Cramm, J. M. (2021). Easier said than done: Healthcare professionals' barriers to the provision of patient-centered primary care to patients with multimorbidity. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 18(11), 6057. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18116057

- Kuis, E. E., Hesselink, G., & Goossensen, A. (2014). Can quality from a care ethical perspective be assessed? A review. *Nursing Ethics*, 21(7), 774-793. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733013500163
- Kumar, R. D., & Khiljee, N. (2016). Leadership in healthcare. *Anaesthesia & Intensive Care Medicine*, 17(1), 63-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mpaic.2015.10.012
- Larson, E., Sharma, J., Bohren, M. A., & Tunçalp, Ö. (2019). When the patient is the expert: Measuring patient experience and satisfaction with care. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 97(8), 563-569.

 https://doi.org/10.2471/blt.18.225201
- Lee, D. (2019). A model for designing healthcare service based on the patient experience.

 *International Journal of Healthcare Management, 12(3), 180-188.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/20479700.2017.1359956
- Lee, E., Daugherty, J., & Hamelin, T. (2019). Reimagine health care leadership, challenges, and opportunities in the 21st century. *Journal of PeriAnesthesia Nursing*, 34(1), 27-38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jopan.2017.11.007
- Lee, S. M. (2018). Lee geropalliative caring model. *Advances in Nursing Science*, 41(2), 161-173. https://doi.org/10.1097/ans.00000000000000195
- Leonard, D. L. (2017). Exploring customer service through hospital management strategies. (Publication No. 10283085) (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University). ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Leonard, P. (2017). Exploring ways to manage healthcare professional—patient communication issues. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 25(1), 7-9.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-017-3635-6

- Létourneau, D., Cara, C., & Goudreau, J. (2017). Humanizing nursing care: An analysis of caring theories through the lens of humanism. *International Journal for Human Caring*, 21(1), 32-40. http://dx.doi.org/10.20467/1091-5710-21.1.32
- Lien, B., Pauleen, D., Kuo, Y., & Wang, T. (2014). The rationality and objectivity of reflection in phenomenological research. *Quality and Quantity*, 48, 189-196. https://doi.org/10.5296/rbm.v2i1.5823
- Lindsay, R. W. (2017). Linking reimbursement to patient satisfaction: Is the tail wagging the dog? *JAMA Facial Plastic Surgery*, *19*(3), 173-174. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamafacial.2016.1866
- Ling, E. J., Shanafelt, T. D., & Singer, S. J. (2021). Understanding memorably negative provider care delivery experiences: Why patient experiences matter for providers. *Healthcare*, 9(3), 1-7. https://doi.org./10.1016/j.hjdsi.2021.100544
- Llewellyn, S. (2019). The chronic care model, kidney disease, and primary care: A scoping review. *Nephrology Nursing Journal*, *46*(3), 301-313. https://www.annanurse.org
- Mahoney, J. S., Mulder, C., Hardesty, S., & Madan, A. (2017). Integrating caring into patient-centered care through interprofessional education and ethics: The caring project. *Bulletin of the Menninger Clinic*, 81(3), 233-246.

 https://doi.org/10.1521/bumc_2017_81_02
- Mann, R. K., Siddiqui, Z., Kurbanova, N., & Qayyum, R. (2016). Effect of HCAHPS reporting on patient satisfaction with physician communication. *Journal of*

- Hospital Medicine, 11(2), 105-110. https://doi.org/10.1002/jhm.2490
- Marks, A., Wilkes, L., Blythe, S., & Griffiths, R. (2017). A novice researcher's reflection on recruiting participants for qualitative research. *Nurse Researcher*, 25(2), 34-38. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.2017.e1510
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (5th ed.). Sage. Mayeroff, M. (1971). *On caring*. Harper and Row.
- McAfee, P. (2016). *Analysis of how newly hired nurses are educated to provide customer service*. (Publication No. 10061199) (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University).
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, *30*(7), 537-542. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267659114559116
- McIntosh, M. J., & Morse, J. M. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semistructured interviews. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 2, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393615597674
- Medicare. (n.d.). Care-compare. https://www.medicare.gov/care-compare
- Miller, P., & Mosley, K. (2016). Physician reimbursement: From fee-for-service to MACRA, MIPS and APMs. *Journal of Medical Practice Management*, 31(5), 266-269. https://shop.physicianleaders.org/collections/subscriptions/products/the-journal-of-medical-practice-management
- Moon, C. (2015). The (un)changing role of the researcher. *International Journal of Market Research*, 57(1), 15-16. https://doi.org/10.2501/IJMR-2015-002
- Moore, N., Salter, A., Stanley, L., & Tamboukou, M. (2016). The archive project:

- *Archival research in the social sciences*. Routledge.
- Morse, J. M. (2016). Mixed method design: Principles and procedures. Routledge.
- Naidu, T., & Prose, N. (2018). Re-envisioning member checking and communicating results as accountability practice in qualitative research: A South African community-based organization example. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 19(3), 783-797. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.3.3153
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*.

 https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/read-the-belmont-report/index.html
- Navarro, C., Knight, T., Sharman, S. J., & Powell, M. B. (2019). Challenges in translating interview protocols for alleged child victims of sexual abuse to different languages: A case study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *94*(104033). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104033
- Newnham, H., Barker, A., Ritchie, E., Hitchcock, K., Gibbs, H., & Holton, S. (2017).

 Discharge communication practices and healthcare provider and patient preferences, satisfaction, and comprehension: A systematic review. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 29(6), 752-768.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzx121
- Newton, V. (2017). It's good to be able to talk: An exploration of the complexities of participant and researcher relationships when conducing sensitive research.

- Women's Studies International Forum, 61(1), 93-99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2016.11.011
- Ng, T. W. (2017). Transformational leadership and performance outcomes: Analyses of multiple mediation pathways. *Leadership Quarterly*, 28(3), 385-417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2016.11.008
- Nicholson, J., & Kurucz, E. (2017). Relational leadership of sustainability: Building an ethical framework from the moral theory of "ethics of care." *Journal of Business Ethics*, 156(1), 25-43. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3593-4
- Nurse-Clarke, N., DiCicco-Bloom, B., & Limbo, R. (2019). Application of caring theory to nursing care of women experiencing stillbirth. *MCN: The American Journal of Maternal Child Nursing*, 44(1), 27-32. https://doi.org/10.1097/NMC.0000000000000494
- Olson, N. W. (2019). Why should medical care be family-centered? Understanding ethical responsibilities for patients' family members. *Kennedy Institute of Ethics Journal*, 29(2), 159-185. https://doi.org/10.1353/ken.2019.0019
- Onukogu, C. (2018). Streamlining hospital administrative procedures at reduce cost.

 (Publication No. 10744910) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Opelka, F., Sage, J., & Coffron, M. (2018). Development of alternative payment models for surgical care. *Seminars in Colon and Rectal Surgery*, 29(2), 84-88. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.scrs.2018.01.009
- Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. (n.d.). Health spending.

https://data.oecd.org

- Owaid, O. (2017). The death of private practice: How the rising cost of healthcare is destroying physician autonomy. *Brooklyn Journal of Corporate, Financial & Commercial Law*, 11(2), 521-539.

 https://www.brooklynworks.brooklaw.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1238&context=bjcfcl
- Pabico, C., & Graystone, R. (2018). Comparing pathway to excellence and magnet recognition programs. *American Nurse Today*, *13*(3), 46-50. https://www.researchgate.net
- Pacho, T. (2015). Exploring participants' experiences using case study. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 5(4), 44-53. https://www.ijhssnet.com/
- Padilla, T. (2017). Kindness: At the center of patient experience strategies. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 62(4), 229-233. https://doi.org/10.1097/JHM-D-17-00083
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533-544.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Papageorge, M. V., Resio, B. J., Monsalve, A. F., Canavan, M., Pathak, R., Mase, V. J.,
 Dhanasopon, A. P., Hoag, J. R., Blasberg, J. D., & Boffa, D. J. (2020). Navigating
 by stars: Using CMS star ratings to choose hospitals for complex cancer

- surgery. *JNCI cancer spectrum*, *4*(5), 59-66. https://doi.org/10.1093/jncics/pkaa059
- Pascual, G. D. (2021). Supporting caring efficacy in nurses through standardization of communication. *International Journal of Nursing Sciences and Clinical Practices*, 1(1), 26-36.

 https://dx.doi.org/10.47890/IJNSCP/GlennDPascual/2021/10042114
- Patil, R., & Karandikar, R. G. (2016). "Digital signal preservation approaches of archived biomedical paper records A review," [Paper presentation] 2016 5th

 International Conference on Wireless Networks and Embedded Systems, Rajpura,
 Punjab. https://doi.org/10.1109/WECON.2016.7993456
- Peng, J., Li, M., Wang, Z., & Lin, Y. (2021). Transformational leadership and employees' reactions to organizational change: Evidence from a meta-analysis. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *57*(3), 369-397. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886320920366
- Persaud, D. D., & Murphy, M. (2020). The ELIAS framework: A prescription for innovation and change. *Healthcare Management Forum*, 34(1), 56-61.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0840470420950361
- Pluye, P., & Hong, Q. N. (2014). Combining the power of stories and the power of numbers: Mixed methods research and mixed studies reviews. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 35(1), 29-45. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032013-182440
- Potter, M. A., & Wilson, C. (2017). Applying bureaucratic caring theory and the chronic

- Purwanto, A., Bernarto, I., Asbari, M., Wijayanti, L. M., & Hyun, C. C. (2020). Effect of transformational and transactional leadership style on public health centre performance. *Journal of Research in Business, Economics, and Education*, 2(1). 304-314. https://www.researchgate.net
- Resnick, M. (2018). The accountable care organization for surgical care. *Surgical Oncology Clinics of North America*, 27(4), 717-725. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sos.2018.05.011
- Røddesnes, S., Faber, H. C., & Jensen, M. (2019). NVivo courses in the library: Working to create the library courses of tomorrow. *Nordic Journal of Information Literacy in Higher Education*, 11(1), 27-38. https://doi.org/10.15845/noril.v11i1.2762
- Rotenstein, L., Perez, K., Wohler, D., Sanders, S., Im, D., Kazberouk, A., & Phillips, R. S. (2019). Preparing health professions students to lead change. *Leadership in Health Services*, 32(2), 182-194. https://doi.org/10.1108/LHS-02-2018-0011
- Saab, M. M., Drennan, J., Cornally, N., Landers, M., Hegarty, J., Savage, E., Lunn, C., & Coffey, A. (2019). Impact of a compassionate care leadership programme. *British Journal of Nursing*, 28(11), 708-714.
 https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2019.28.11.708
- Sacks, L., & Margolis, R. (2021). Physician leadership in organizations undergo major transformation. *Healthcare*, 9(3), 2-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hjdsi.2015.08.011 Saldaña, J. (2015). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers*. Sage.

- Sandberg, K. C. (2018). Leadership in quality improvement. *Current Problems in Pediatric and Adolescent Health Care*. 48(8), 206-210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cppeds.2018.08.007
- Schwartz, D. B., Spencer, T., Wilson, B., & Wood, K. (2011). Transformational leadership: Implications for nursing leaders in facilities seeking magnet designation. *AORN journal*, *93*(6), 737-748.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aorn.2010.09.032
- Seeralan, T., Härter, M., Koschnitzke, C., Scholl, M., Kohlmann, S., Lehmann, M., Eisele, M., Braunschneider, L., Marx, G., Scherer, M., Löwe, B., Magaard, J. L., & Brütt, A. L. (2021). Patient involvement in developing a patient-targeted feedback intervention after depression screening in primary care within the randomized controlled trial GET.FEEDBACK.GP. *Health Expectations*, 24(1), 95-112. https://doi.org./10.1111/hex.13039
- Seljemo, C., Viksveen, P., & Ree, E. (2020). The role of transformational leadership, job demands and job resources for patient safety culture in Norwegian nursing homes:

 A cross-sectional study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 20(799), 1-8.

 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-05671-y
- Shirley, E. D., & Sanders, J. O. (2013). Patient satisfaction: Implications and predictors of success. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*, 95(10), e69. https://doi.org/10.2106/jbjs.1.02048
- Simsekler, M. C. E., Alhashmi, N. H., Azar, E., King, N., Luqman, R. A. M. A., & Al Mulla, A. (2021). Exploring drivers of patient satisfaction using a random forest

- algorithm. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 21(157), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-021-01519-5
- Smylie, M., Murphy, J., & Louis, K. S. (2016). Caring school leadership: A multidisciplinary, cross-occupational model. *American Journal of Education*, 123(1), 1-35. https://doi.org/10.1086/688166
- Söderman, M., Rosendahl, S., & Sällström, C. (2018). Caring and uncaring encounters between assistant nurses and immigrants with dementia symptoms in two group homes in Sweden-an observational study. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Gerontology*, 33(3), 299-317. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10823-018-9351-y
- Sorra, J., Zebrak, K., Carpenter, D., Famolaro, T., Rauch, J., Li, J., Davis, T., Nguyen, H. Q., McIntosh, M., Mitchell, S., Hirschman, K. B., Levine, C., Clouser, J. M., Brock, J., & Williams, M. V. (2021). Development and psychometric properties of surveys to assess patient and family caregiver experience with care transitions. *BMC Health Services Research*, 21(1), 1-15. https://doiorg./10.1186/s12913-021-06766-w
- Sowers, K. W. (2016). Transformation of the Belmont healthcare system: Implications for cancer care. *Seminars in Oncology Nursing*, *32*(2), 79-86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soncn.2016.02.002
- Spaulding, A., Kash, B. A., Johnson, C. E., & Gamm, L. (2017). Organizational capacity for change in health care: Development and validation of a scale. *Health Care Management Review*, 42(2), 151-161.

https://doi.org/10.1097/HMR.0000000000000096

- Spinnewijn, L., Bolte, A. C., Braat, D. D. M., Scheele, F., & Aarts, J. W. M. (in press).

 Structurally collecting patient feedback on trainee skills: A pilot study in

 Obstetrics and Gynecology. *Patient Education and Counseling*.

 https://doi.org./10.1016/j.pec.2021.08.026
- Spradley, J. P. (2016). *The ethnographic interview*. Waveland Press.
- Stewart, M. A. (2018). Stuck in the middle: The impact of collaborative interprofessional communication on patient expectations. *Shoulder & Elbow*, *10*(1), 66-72. https://doi.org/10.1177/1758573217735325
- Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 68(3), 226-231. https://doi.org/10.4212/cjhp.v68i3.1456
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2019). Limitation and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative nursing (GORNA)*, 7(3), 155-162. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Thornton, R. D., Nurse, N., Snavely, L., Hackett-Zahler, S., Frank, K., & DiTomasso, R. (2017). Influences on patient satisfaction in healthcare centers: A semi-quantitative study over 5 years. *BMC Health Serv Res*, 17(361), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2307-z
- Tillman, B., Richards, S. B., & Frank, C. L. (2011). A mixed-methods study assessing special education preservice candidates' preparedness for their first year of teaching. *Journal of Educational Research and Practice*, 1(1), 50-66. https://doi.org/10.5590/JERAP.2011.01.1.04

- Tsai, T. C., Orav, E. J., & Jha, A. K. (2015). Patient satisfaction and quality of surgical care in us hospitals. *Annals of Surgery*, 261(1), 2-8. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.00000000000000765
- Tubbs-Cooley, H. L., Pickler, R. H., Mara, C. A., Othman, M., Kovacs, A., & Mark, B. A. (2017). Hospital Magnet® designation and missed nursing care in neonatal intensive care units. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, *34*, 5-9.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2016.12.004
- Valentine, K. D., Kopcha, T. J., & Vagle, M. D. (2018). Phenomenological methodologies in the field of educational communications and technology. *TechTrends*, 62(5), 462-472. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-018-0317-2
- van den Berg, A., & Struwig, M. (2017). Guidelines for researchers using an adapted consensual qualitative research approach in management research. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 15(2), 109-119. http://www.academic-conferences.org/ejournals.htm
- van Rijnsoever, F. J. (2017). (I can't get no) saturation: a simulation and guidelines for sample sizes in qualitative research. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(7), e0181689.

 https://doi.org/10.1371/jouranl.pone.0181689
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterizing and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: Systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18(148), 2-18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7

- Vass, C., Rigby, D., & Payne, K. (2017). The role of qualitative research methods in discrete choice experiments: A systematic review and survey of authors. *Medical Decision Making*, *37*(3), 298-313. https://doi.org/10.1177/0272989X16683934
- Villeneuve, M. J., Tschudin, V., Storch, J., Fowler, M. D., & Peter, E. (2016). A very human being: Sister Marie Simone Roach, 1922–2016. *Nursing Inquiry*, 23(4), 283-289. https://doi.org/10.1111/nin.12168
- Vizzuso, J. D. (2015). Leadership strategies to influence employee engagement in health care. (Publication No. 3689281) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University].

 ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Wagner, E. H., Austin, B. T., Davis, C., Hindmarsh, M., Schaefer, J., & Bonomi, A. (2001). Improving chronic illness care: Translating evidence into action. *Health Affairs*, 20(6), 64-78. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.20.6.64
- Walliman, N. (2017). Research methods: The basics. Routledge.
- Walumbwa, F. O., Hartnell, C. A., & Misati, E. (2017). Does ethical leadership enhance group learning behavior? Examining the mediating influence of group ethical conduct, justice climate, and peer justice. *Journal of Business Research*, 72, 14-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.11.013
- Wanser, L., & Luckel, H. (2021). The role of leadership in change in healthcare facilities:

 A qualitative study. *American Journal of Management*, 21(1), 16-31.

 https://doi.org/10.33423/ajm.v21i1.4107
- Watson, J., & Smith, M. C. (2002). Caring science and the science of unitary human beings: A trans-theoretical discourse for nursing knowledge development. *Journal*

- of Advanced Nursing, 37(5), 452-461. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2648.2002.02112.x
- Wei, H., Fazzone, P. A., Sitzman, K., & Hardin, S. R. (2019). The current intervention studies based on Watson's theory of human caring: A systematic review.
 International Journal for Human Caring, 23(1), 4-22.
 https://doi.org/10.20467/10915710.23.1.4
- Woo, K., Rathburn, J., & Copeland, T. (2018). Meaningful incentive payment system scoring. *Journal of Vascular Surgery: Venous and Lymphatic Disorders*, 6(6), 681-806. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvsv.2018.09.009
- Wright, S., Daker-White, G., Newman, W., & Payne, K. (2018). Understanding barriers to the introduction of precision medicines in non-small cell lung cancer: A qualitative interview protocol. *Welcome Open Research*, 1(3), 24. https://doi.org/10.12688/wellcomeopenres.13976.1
- Xu, H., Yan, H., Pang, J., Nan, S., Yang, X., & Zhao, D. (2020). Evaluating the relative value of care interventions based on clinical pathway variation detection and propensity score. 2020 IEEE International Conference on Bioinformatics and Biomedicine (BIBM), Bioinformatics and Biomedicine (BIBM), 2020 IEEE International Conference On, 1184-1187.

https://doi.org./10.1109/BIBM49941.2020.9313546

- Xu, M. A., & Storr, G. B. (2012). Learning the concept of researcher as instrument in qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 17(21), 1-18. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol17/iss21/2
- Yang, Y., Bass, E. J., Sockolow, P. S., & Bowles, K. H. (2018, November 3-November 7). Knowledge elicitation of homecare admission decision making processes via focus group, member checking and data visualization. [Paper presentation].
 AMIA Annual Symposium Proceedings, San Francisco, CA, United States.
 https://www.amia.org/amia2018
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods* (6th ed.) SAGE Publications.

Appendix: Interview Protocol

As communicated in the consent form that I sent you, I am a Doctor of Business Administration-Leadership Student at Walden University, conducting my doctoral study in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree. The purpose of this interview is to explore the strategies healthcare leaders use to improve patient satisfaction. The results of this study may contribute to effective business practices by serving as a business model for healthcare leaders to achieve sustainable patient satisfaction solutions within healthcare organizations.

During the virtual interview, I will take notes and audio record the conversations to accurately capture the discussion. Your responses are and will remain confidential. Once I transfer the recorded audio to a Microsoft Word document, I will schedule time with each participant to review my interpretations for accuracy; this step is member checking.

The following steps will take place during the interview:

- I will turn on the audio recording device and note the date and time of the interview.
- I will ask the participants if there are any questions or concerns before starting the interview.
- I will ask each participant the following interview questions:
 - 1. What strategies did you use to improve patient satisfaction?
 - 2. What strategy did you find worked best to improve patient satisfaction?
 - 3. How did you measure the success of the strategies used?
 - 4. What were the key barriers to implementing the strategies for improving patient satisfaction?
 - 5. How did your organization address the critical barriers to improving patient satisfaction?
 - 6. How did patients respond to your strategies to improve patient satisfaction?
 - 7. What else would you like to share that you did not address regarding the strategies used to improve patient satisfaction?
- I will ask each participant to share any relevant documentation, such as policies, procedures, and workflows of the strategies used.

- I will end the interview process.
- I will schedule the 60-minute member checking interview and confirm the contact information of the participants.
- I will provide my contact information for follow-up questions or any concerns that the participants may have.
- I will thank each participant for their time.
- I will turn off the audio recorder and conclude the virtual interview.

During the member checking interview, the following steps will take place:

- I will turn on the audio recording device and note the date and time of the interview.
- I will begin the 60-minute virtual member checking interview and ensure that each participant does not have any questions or concerns before starting the interview.
- I will explain to the participants that the focus of the member checking interview is to confirm my documentation of the interview responses and address any concerns of my documentation of the interview.
- I will provide each participant with my documentation of the individual interview responses.
- I will note any revisions and ask for clarification if needed to ensure the proper changes to the documentation.
- I will thank the participants for their time.
- I will turn off the voice recorder and conclude the member checking interview.